

Official Report

MEETING OF THE PARLIAMENT

Tuesday 20 January 2015

Session 4

© Parliamentary copyright. Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body

Information on the Scottish Parliament's copyright policy can be found on the website -<u>www.scottish.parliament.uk</u> or by contacting Public Information on 0131 348 5000

Tuesday 20 January 2015

CONTENTS

	Col.
TIME FOR REFLECTION	1
PRESIDING OFFICER'S STATEMENT	3
TOPICAL QUESTIONS	4
V&A at Dundee	4
Peterhead Fish Processing Plant Fire (Support)	7
TACKLING INEQUALITIES	
Motion moved—[Roseanna Cunningham].	
Amendment moved—[Ken Macintosh].	
Amendment moved—[Alex Johnstone].	
Amendment moved—[Willie Rennie].	
The Cabinet Secretary for Fair Work, Skills and Training (Roseanna Cunningham)	10
Ken Macintosh (Eastwood) (Lab)	
Alex Johnstone (North East Scotland) (Con)	
Willie Rennie (Mid Scotland and Fife) (LD)	
Gordon MacDonald (Edinburgh Pentlands) (SNP)	
Rhoda Grant (Highlands and Islands) (Lab)	
Christina McKelvie (Hamilton, Larkhall and Stonehouse) (SNP)	
Margaret McCulloch (Central Scotland) (Lab)	
Bob Doris (Glasgow) (SNP)	
Christine Grahame (Midlothian South, Tweeddale and Lauderdale) (SNP)	
Duncan McNeil (Greenock and Inverclyde) (Lab)	
Kevin Stewart (Aberdeen Central) (SNP)	
Nigel Don (Angus North and Mearns) (SNP)	
Margaret McDougall (West Scotland) (Lab)	
George Adam (Paisley) (SNP)	
Roderick Campbell (North East Fife) (SNP)	
Cara Hilton (Dunfermline) (Lab)	
Colin Beattie (Midlothian North and Musselburgh) (SNP)	
Willie Rennie	
Annabel Goldie (West Scotland) (Con)	
Neil Findlay (Lothian) (Lab)	
The Cabinet Secretary for Social Justice, Communities and Pensioners' Rights (Alex Neil)	
PUBLIC BODIES (ABOLITION OF THE HOME GROWN TIMBER ADVISORY COMMITTEE) ORDER 2015	
Motion moved—[Richard Lochhead].	
	71
MERCY CORPS 35TH ANNIVERSARY	80
Motion debated—[Jim Eadie].	
Jim Eadie (Edinburgh Southern) (SNP)	80
Malcolm Chisholm (Edinburgh Northern and Leith) (Lab)	
David Torrance (Kirkcaldy) (SNP)	
Cameron Buchanan (Lothian) (Con)	
Linda Fabiani (East Kilbride) (SNP)	
Patricia Ferguson (Glasgow Maryhill and Springburn) (Lab)	
Liam McArthur (Orkney Islands) (LD)	92
The Minister for External Affairs and International Development (Humza Yousaf)	
• • • • • • • • • •	

Scottish Parliament

Tuesday 20 January 2015

[The Presiding Officer opened the meeting at 14:00]

Time for Reflection

The Presiding Officer (Tricia Marwick): Good afternoon. The first item of business this afternoon is time for reflection. Our time for reflection leader today is the Rev Scott Rennie, the minister of Queen's Cross parish church in Aberdeen.

The Rev Scott Rennie (Queen's Cross Parish Church, Aberdeen): Presiding Officer and members of the Scottish Parliament, we meet in this week when thousands all over Scotland, indeed all over the world, will recite the poetry and celebrate the life of Robert Burns, Scotland's national bard, who through his skill of pen offered insight into life and the lot of humanity.

Rightly celebrated, Burns is not always a comfortable read for politicians or indeed clergy or at least he should not be. He speaks the truth to power, often mocks the establishment and, through his more satirical poetry, points out the faults of those who are in authority. As with all good poets, the insights that he shares about human nature transcend time.

Both humility and good manners prevent me from dwelling on what Burns has to say about politicians, but in matters spiritual I may dare to tread. Burns had a difficult relationship with the kirk and with institutional religion in his day, as many insightful people and prophets do. However, while his faith changed and matured in response to his own human experience and philosophical thought, all his life he retained a deep gratitude for his presbyterian upbringing, although he loathed the worst excesses of its Calvinism, especially Calvinism's rather pessimistic view of human nature.

In 1788, he wrote to Mrs Dunlop:

"I am in perpetual warfare with that doctrine of our Reverend Priesthood, that 'we are born into this world ... slaves of iniquity and heirs of perdition; wholly inclined to that which is evil and wholly disinclined to that which is good".

Burns continued:

"I believe in my conscience that the case is just quite contrary. We came into this world with a heart and disposition to do good for it."

Fundamentally, people are good, Burns proclaims—prone to selfishness and excess at times, yes, but of good nature nonetheless.

In a parliamentary agenda or a world outside that often seems shaped by difficulties, problems to solve and challenges to meet, when focusing on those problems, which are our responsibility to ameliorate or transform even, it is too easy to let them jaundice our view of humanity and blind us to the fundamental goodness of people all around us and the society in which we live.

In the realms spiritual and temporal, we must never allow ourselves to be so dogmatically sure that we lose sight of the common human worth and goodness that we share with others, especially those different to us. Indeed, when we recognise the dignity and goodness of each other as people, it will give us the very hope we need as we seek to overcome our challenges in our communities together.

Presiding Officer's Statement

14:04

The Presiding Officer (Tricia Marwick): Before we turn to the next item of business, I wish to make a statement. At this morning's Parliamentary Bureau meeting, James Kelly, the Labour business manager, expressed concern at the announcement that was made this morning to the media and not to the Parliament by the Cabinet Secretary for Health, Wellbeing and Sport on funding to tackle delayed discharge. I asked the Minister for Parliamentary Business to investigate the matter and to come back to me. I have subsequently spoken to the minister and I find the response to be unsatisfactory.

All members will be aware that the good practice guidance on announcements by the Scottish Government states that major policy announcements should always be made to the Parliament. They should not enter the public domain through any other route.

Although I accept that the Government is entitled to exercise its judgment in making announcements, this was clearly an announcement of significant public policy and it should have been made to the Parliament in the first instance. In addition, the issue of delayed discharge has been of great concern to many members over the past few months. I therefore consider it to be a gross discourtesy to the Parliament and its members that the announcement was not made here first.

When a similar situation arose last year, I indicated that it was my expectation that the Government should reflect on its actions. I am very disappointed that that does not appear to have happened. I therefore ask the Government to reflect on its actions today and the consequences for ministers that will flow from similar actions in the future.

I also advise the Government that, if a request for an emergency question had been made to me this morning, I would have accepted it and I would have obliged the cabinet secretary to be here in the chamber, in person, regardless of her other commitments. Be in no doubt that I will do so in the future.

Topical Questions

14:06

V&A at Dundee

1. Alex Johnstone (North East Scotland) (Con): To ask the Scottish Government what limits it will place on its contribution to the V&A project in Dundee. (S4T-00902)

The Cabinet Secretary for Culture, Europe and External Affairs (Fiona Hyslop): The Scottish Government has committed an additional £10 million to the V&A project, bringing its total capital contribution to £25 million. We are also in discussion with Dundee City Council about proposals for a growth accelerator model for the wider Dundee waterfront area, anchored by the V&A. In taking forward those discussions and the management of the project, the Scottish Government expects Dundee City Council and Design Dundee Ltd to ensure that all steps are taken to deliver the project on time and to budget under the fixed-price contract proposed.

Alex Johnstone: I accept that there are inevitably issues of commercial confidentiality, but will the minister take the opportunity today, on behalf of the Government, to create some transparency about the process that led to the announcement? Will she also pass comment on the fact that Dundee City Council was unable to inform any member of its opposition during the process as to what was going on?

Fiona Hyslop: On the transparency of the Scottish Government in terms of budget scrutiny, it is clear that we have laid out our proposals and are doing so again today in the Parliament.

Commercial confidentiality has meant that there has been a period of time and a series of discussions with the contractors to make sure that we get the lowest price. There has been a key driver to reduce prices but not to compromise on the project. As part of that, there have been ongoing discussions between us and Dundee City Council.

On the council's transparency to itself as an authority, to its councillors and to the wider Dundee public, the papers that were produced on Friday announce what the figure now is. However, as I think everybody would expect, there has been a period of time with robust discussions to ensure that we have the certainty of a fixed-price solution. We should welcome that in the interest of confidence going forward.

I absolutely agree with Alex Johnstone that transparency is important in relation to contracts

and proposals. That is why I am happy to answer the questions here today.

Alex Johnstone: Can the cabinet secretary give an unequivocal guarantee at this stage that the money that has been made available to support the project will be adequate to ensure that the people of Dundee get the Victoria and Albert museum that they have been promised for so long?

Fiona Hyslop: It is quite clear that the people of Dundee are very enthusiastic about the prospects of the V&A and what it can mean for the wider regeneration of Dundee.

The certainty that Alex Johnstone is looking for has been part and parcel of the discussions that have been taking place about the contract to try to make sure that the council could get the best possible fixed price from the contractors. That is why, in committing Scottish Government money, we have made sure during that period that we are confident that the proposals and the figures, which are obviously a significant increase on the original estimate before tenders went out, can be realised in order to give people confidence that the project can go ahead and will be successful.

Claire Baker (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab): Yesterday, when I met the director of Dundee V&A in his office, which is opposite a building site, on the original timescales I should have been on a tour of the building. We have seen escalating costs and continual delays for the project, so there needs to be transparency and accountability on that. I am sure that the cabinet secretary, too, must have concerns about how the project has developed. Will the Scottish Government therefore agree to the calls for an inquiry into the rising costs of the building so that we know who knew what and when?

Fiona Hyslop: It is clear that Dundee City Council will be reviewing the process to date. The project is an ambitious one that must be got right. It has been part and parcel of bringing United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization—UNESCO—city of design status to Dundee, so it is important that the project goes ahead.

The issue that I have with an inquiry is that it could cause uncertainty and delay. I am sure that Claire Baker will be familiar with concerns over many years that some Opposition members' attitude and behaviour have caused uncertainty. The Dundee project needs at this time not uncertainty but certainty, particularly when we are attracting additional private sector funding and, as the member will be aware, awaiting a decision on funding from the Heritage Lottery Fund, which will be made in the next few days. I am sure that she would want to ensure that confidence is given to the Heritage Lottery Fund that we are all behind the V&A.

George Adam (Paisley) (SNP): I welcome the additional funding from the Scottish Government for the regeneration project, which is important in cultural terms not just to Dundee but to Scotland as a whole. Can the cabinet secretary outline the benefits that she expects the V&A to bring to the local and national economies?

Fiona Hyslop: As I said, the iconic anchor of the V&A will be significant for the waterfront development in terms of economic impact—that is, jobs. We want to ensure that there is a benefit in Dundee from culture-led regeneration, as has happened in many other areas. George Adam is right to look at the cultural offering itself in terms of Dundee as a city of creativity and innovation.

As I said, Dundee is one of the few places in the world that have been awarded UNESCO city of design status, which is something that we should celebrate. The project will allow us to showcase our industrial heritage and our innovation and design in many different areas, not just in the cultural and heritage offerings but in terms of how innovation has driven Dundee and, indeed, continues to drive our economy.

Jenny Marra (North East Scotland) (Lab): The cabinet secretary has proposed that the remaining sums that are required by the project will be made up of money from a borrowing model: the growth accelerator model. She will know that Dundee City Council has to deal with high levels of deprivation and that the repayments for any borrowing will have to be made over many years, which will affect budgets long into the future. Can she give members any indication about how the risk in the growth accelerator model will be shared between the Scottish Government and Dundee City Council?

Fiona Hyslop: We have made it clear that we are in active discussion with Dundee City Council about the growth accelerator model, which was announced initially for the St James Quarter development here in Edinburgh. I hear what the member says about Dundee's areas of deprivation, but that is exactly why we need to have the economic regeneration of Dundee, of which the waterfront development will be a significant part and the V&A a vital part.

On the Scottish Government's contribution, I have made it clear repeatedly—the member will have heard me—that we stand behind the V&A and the project. I cannot give the member any detail about our discussion with the council on the growth accelerator model, as it is on-going. We want to ensure, through not only my portfolio but others, that Dundee gets its fair share of

resources, but in many respects it is doing far better than other areas.

Peterhead Fish Processing Plant Fire (Support)

2. Alison McInnes (North East Scotland) (LD): To ask the Scottish Government what assessment it has made of the need for support following the fire at the Peterhead fish processing plant. (S4T-00900)

The Cabinet Secretary for Rural Affairs, Food and Environment (Richard Lochhead): Many members will have seen the images of the devastating fire at the Northbay processing factory in Peterhead, which was ablaze for more than 10 hours. At its peak, 10 fire units and several specialist crews were on site to stop the flames from spreading to canisters containing ammonia and bring the blaze under control. Thankfully, no one was injured.

Northbay Pelagic is one of the largest fish factories in Scotland and the company is a major employer, with around 120 full-time staff and 100 temporary staff. The fire has destroyed the processing plant and production line, but the company has said that it intends to rebuild the plant as quickly as possible. Indeed, when I spoke to the company today, it reaffirmed that intention.

It is imperative that we all pull together to get the company up and running again. Scottish Enterprise and Aberdeenshire Council are already in close contact with the company, and a multiagency task force is convening this Friday in Aberdeen to establish what level of support the company might require from the public sector to enable the business to continue in both the short and the longer term.

Alison McInnes: The cabinet secretary will be aware that Northbay Pelagic's facility is one of the most important fish-processing facilities in the country and that this is a crucial time of year, as it marks the start of the mackerel season. Ian Gatt, chief executive of the Scottish Pelagic Fishermen's Association, has suggested that the incident could lead to buyers and fishermen looking to other ports-even ports in Norway-to do business. Has the cabinet secretary had discussions with local stakeholders about how to prevent that from occurring? Can he help the company to find temporary accommodation, for example, so that we limit the impact that the incident has on the local economy?

Richard Lochhead: As the member can imagine, the Scottish Government is very keen to help limit the impact on the local economy in any way we can. We recognise the importance of the factory to the local economy, and Scottish Government officials will be involved in the task force that has been set up this week. I will have to wait for feedback from the various agencies, the local community, the local authority and the company to get an understanding of how best the Scottish Government can intervene. We have instructed all the public agencies to take the matter extremely seriously, not least to give some comfort to the staff—who remain in employment on full-time pay—that everything is being done to secure their future.

Stewart Stevenson (Banffshire and Buchan Coast) (SNP): The minister helpfully referred to the local economy. In particular, has any contact been made with other businesses in Peterhead and beyond to find out what the knock-on effects are and to establish what the Government and others can do to assist?

Richard Lochhead: I assure Stewart Stevenson that that is one of the issues that will be discussed at this week's meeting of the task force. We are aware not only that the fire is an issue for the factory, which is a significant employer in Peterhead, but that many suppliers rely on the company for their business, so there will indeed be a knock-on impact.

It is also worth saying that other pelagic businesses in the area have been in contact with Northbay to offer support. We should welcome that and thank them for doing so. The local community is putting a lot of effort into rallying round the staff, the business in question and the other businesses affected.

I assure Stewart Stevenson that we will pay close attention to the knock-on impact on other businesses in the locality.

Sarah Boyack (Lothian) (Lab): I welcome the establishment of the task force, which will be hugely important for the fishing industry and for the knock-on effect on local economic development.

I want to focus on the regeneration opportunity that could come from rebuilding the factory. Has the cabinet secretary been in discussion with Aberdeenshire Council about the regeneration impact of getting on the ground fast with a replacement facility?

Richard Lochhead: Sarah Boyack makes a good point about the role of Aberdeenshire Council. As she can imagine, given that the company has stated its intention to rebuild the factory as soon as possible, that will require the council's co-operation with planning permission and other permissions. If other public agencies are also involved in that process, I would be keen for them to expedite the process, where possible. That is part of our thinking as we move forward, because we want the workers concerned to have a job for the future, just as we want the companies

that rely on Northbay for business to continue to have that business.

Wider issues will arise. I should mention that the pelagic boats would normally have been out at sea at the time of year that the fire occurred. If they had been landing fish to be processed, that would have created a problem but, because of the poor weather, supplies were not being landed to the extent that they would normally be. The problem was therefore not as bad as it could have been if the factory had been full of stock. We will look at any wider issues that emerge.

Tackling Inequalities

The Presiding Officer (Tricia Marwick): The next item of business is a debate on motion S4M-12095, in the name of Alex Neil, on tackling inequalities.

14:19

The Cabinet Secretary for Fair Work, Skills and Training (Roseanna Cunningham): As members will know, over the past six years we have seen many changes in Scotland's labour market. There has been a marked increase in part-time work and an increase in selfemployment, and many employers have taken the opportunity to introduce new ways of contracting with employees—hence the rise in zero-hours and fixed-term contracts. At the same time, and probably as a direct consequence of those changes, underemployment is widespread and real wages have fallen.

The new ways of working are gradually eroding employment protections that have been built up over many decades. As bad as it is when any business goes under, it is even worse when many people who depend on that business for their livelihoods find that they have no recourse to any of the legal protections that might once have been available.

Real wages have fallen, as I said. There is now a substantial and measurable problem of in-work poverty, which is getting worse. The Joseph Rowntree Foundation has just published a report on the subject; this morning, the Scottish Government published evidence on the extent of in-work poverty in Scotland.

The people who are most likely to receive low pay are women, young people, older workers, people without qualifications, some ethnic minorities, lone parents and disabled people. Women are more likely to work in low-paying sectors and are more likely to be in part-time employment, which has a substantial overlap with low pay.

That means that even though employment levels have grown significantly since 2008, job quality—measured in terms of remuneration, job security, fair contractual terms and opportunities for progression and engagement—is poor for a growing proportion of people in employment. There is an increased sense of disconnection between business success and the accrual to employees of a share of the benefits of success.

This Government is absolutely of the view that such changes are bad for the economy. Inequality is holding back the life chances of the lowest earners in Scotland's population and acts as a significant brake on productivity and growth.

The latest evidence from the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development suggests that income inequality has a significant negative impact on growth. Policies to reduce income inequalities should be pursued, not only to improve social outcomes but to sustain long-term growth.

We published a revised child poverty strategy in March, which included outcomes that focus on the three Ps: pockets, prospects and places. We aim to maximise household incomes, improve children's life chances and provide sustainable places. The strategy includes actions across a variety of areas.

The approach in the strategy is reflected in the commitments that the First Minister made in the programme for government. The programme sets out a range of cross-portfolio policies that are aimed at reducing inequality, including action around fair work, which is part of the focus of this debate, such as our commitment to pay the living wage and the increased funding to the Poverty Alliance to grow the number of accredited living wage employers.

The programme also sets out a focus on school attainment and university access for people from disadvantaged backgrounds, which is being taken forward by my colleague the Cabinet Secretary for Education and Lifelong Learning. There are also commitments to support increased childcare and free school meals, which have been the subject of recent discussion. The policies are designed to help to reduce intergenerational poverty and tackle inequality.

Neil Findlay (Lothian) (Lab): Which of those or other policies takes money from the wealthiest in our society and puts it into the pockets of the least wealthy, and is under the control of the Scottish Government?

Roseanna Cunningham: The member's final phrase is key. What would actually help us to do something about that is precisely what the Labour Party does not want us to have—that is, powers over tax, benefits and employment law.

The programme for government also emphasises our commitments to empower communities by handing over decisions on key issues and to make Government open and accessible, through public participation in the decisions that we make that affect communities.

We have committed to poverty proofing all our new policies and legislation through the use of poverty impact assessments whenever we make a change. We will appoint an independent adviser on poverty and inequality, who will hold public events with the First Minister to raise awareness of the reality of living in poverty, make recommendations to the Government on how collectively we should respond and hold the Government to account on its performance.

However, we know that poverty levels are increasing in Scotland because of United Kingdom Government policies. Scottish Government analysis estimates that the price that Scotland has had to pay as a result of the UK Government's cuts and changes to the welfare system could total around £6 billion in the six years to 2015-16.

One of the depressing outcomes has been the massive rise in the number of people who are using food banks. It is clearly unacceptable that so many people in Scotland are living in food poverty. We continue to make that point to UK ministers as we press them on the impacts that their decisions on welfare are having in Scotland.

I have mentioned the rise in in-work poverty. It is an absolute scandal that the majority of workingage adults in poverty in Scotland—indeed, throughout the UK—are living in households in which at least one adult is in employment. For children, the figure is 59 per cent. We have made various commitments to what we call the social wage, which extends certain core universal services, rights and benefits in order to deliver the social and economic circumstances from which everyone will benefit. I will not rehearse them all here, as the chamber is well aware of them. I will, instead, focus specifically on some of the areas that fall within my portfolio, the first of which is the living wage.

All our policies in reference to the social wage for example, free school meals—are designed to help hard-pressed families and individuals, as are our commitments on the living wage. Despite the sharp reductions that have been imposed on the Scottish budget by the UK Government, we have managed to incorporate a number of distinct measures in our pay policy to actively protect the pay of our lowest-earning public sector workers, including a commitment to support the Scottish living wage for the duration of this parliamentary session, to 2015-16.

As I have said, we have also provided further funding to the Poverty Alliance to promote take-up of the living wage accreditation scheme. We have set a target of having at least 150 accredited employers by the end of 2015, and some members may have picked up the fact that, yesterday, the First Minister visited the 100th such employer to be signed up. That will help to increase the number of employers who are paying the living wage in all sectors in Scotland and to make decent pay the standard in our country. Ken Macintosh (Eastwood) (Lab): I welcome the minister's comments. Does the minister have any views on the need to tackle, as well as pay at the bottom, excess pay at the top?

Roseanna Cunningham: The minister has a great many views about the need to tackle excess pay at the top; it is just a pity that the party to which the member belongs does not appear to have much to say about it. It is a great pity that the party opposite is not interested in giving this Parliament the powers to do something in a statutory sense about all the issues that we are raising today.

European Union law prevents the payment of the living wage being mandated as part of a public procurement exercise. Despite others' claims to the contrary, the position under EU law has been made clear in a number of rulings of the European Court of Justice and in correspondence between the Scottish Government and the European Commission. Making the living wage mandatory through contracts is not possible under EU law where the statutory national minimum wage has been set at a lower level. That is why the SNP Government asked the Smith commission to recommend devolving responsibility for the national minimum wage to the Scottish Parliament-a policy that the Labour Party chose not to support. Labour members refused to support the devolution of responsibility for the national minimum wage to Scotland, a move that would have allowed the Scottish Parliament to determine what level it should be set at.

We have consistently explained that, although we cannot make the living wage mandatory, we can strongly encourage it. That is what the Procurement Reform (Scotland) Act 2014 seeks to do in providing for the issuing of statutory guidance on workforce matters in procurement. My colleague Keith Brown, the Cabinet Secretary for Infrastructure, Investment and Cities, is currently consulting key stakeholders, including the Infrastructure and Capital Investment Committee, the Scottish Trades Union Congress, trade unions and the Poverty Alliance, on draft guidelines for purchasers on how to tackle workforce matters in procurement.

We are also leading by example. The Scottish Government successfully encouraged bidders to offer bids that were based on their staff being paid the living wage when we recently tendered our catering contract. In addition, we have worked with our existing cleaning contractor to ensure that its staff who work on our core premises will also receive at least the living wage. We continue to encourage all public bodies and businesses to follow our lead on this important matter.

To expand on some of the issues on the broader question of fair work, I am glad that this

Parliament showed overwhelming support for the working together review and its recommendations when first debated on 13 November last year.

We are always focused on securing the best outcomes for Scotland. We believe—the working together review confirmed this—that progressive workplace policies can help to improve a firm's productivity and innovation and can aid sustainable growth. Well-rewarded and sustained employment is the best route out of poverty and the best way to tackle inequality. That is why there will be a fair work convention; that is why it will prioritise the promotion of the living wage to highlight the fact that business productivity goes hand in hand with decent, fair and equal pay.

In support of our approach that fairness supports and underpins long-term prosperity, we will develop a Scottish business pledge. It will invite companies to commit, for example, to extending the living wage, involving their local communities, and investing in youth training and employment and, in return, they will be offered a package of tailored support on skills, innovation and exports, to help them to grow and prosper.

Against the background of recession and continued Westminster austerity, our strategy for developing Scotland's young workforce is delivering. Recent employment statistics for Scotland have been encouraging—we have record numbers of people in work. Youth unemployment in Scotland is at a five-year low. I expect people to really welcome that. Scotland is outperforming the United Kingdom as a whole on youth unemployment, employment and youth inactivity rates.

We still have more to do. We want to tackle long-term issues in the labour market and barriers to young women and men getting into jobs. Last year, we said that we would be able to increase the annual number of new modern apprenticeship starts, taking the number to 30,000 a year by 2020. We have set ambitious targets for our young workforce. The Parliament will recall that, in December 2014, I brought to the chamber "Developing the Young Workforce—Scotland's Youth Employment Strategy", which set out an ambitious seven-year programme on which we will report regularly.

The key performance indicators in the strategy cover a range of measures and have a particular focus on addressing inequality. They look to increase the minority gender share in the largest and most imbalanced college superclasses, increase the employment rate for young disabled people to the population average and increase the number of modern apprenticeships starts from minority ethnic communities. We will report each year on those ambitions. Implementing the programme will put us where we belong—among the best-performing countries in Europe.

Above all, our seven-year programme will be a collaborative effort. Government cannot do this on its own, so our programme has been developed in conjunction with our partners in local government and with Scotland's employers and trade unions.

We all have a part to play in developing a fairer and more equal Scotland and, frankly, we must work together if we are to do so. I am sure that those present would agree that the issues motivate us all and that this Parliament, like the Scottish Government, must continue to make strong commitments to tackle them. We need to work together here as well as out in the country if we are going to achieve what we want to achieve, as set out in the motion before you.

I move,

That the Parliament agrees that a strong, sustainable economy is essential to building a fair and wealthy society; further agrees that a society that is fair and equitable underpins a strong economy; believes that an essential element of this is that work should be a route out of poverty; deplores the fact that half of children in poverty are growing up in a household where at least one person is in employment: further believes that this is a clear sign that the economic and social policies of the UK Government are failing Scotland; notes the commitment of the Scottish Government to build a fairer Scotland and tackle inequality; welcomes the positive steps that the Scottish Government has taken toward this by paying the living wage as part of its pay policy and, by supporting living wage accreditation, encouraging more organisations to do the same; further welcomes the development of the Fair Work Convention to promote and sustain a fair employment framework, and is concerned that these efforts are at risk of being undermined by the £6 billion of welfare cuts being made by the UK Government.

14:33

Ken Macintosh (Eastwood) (Lab): 1 congratulate the cabinet secretary on introducing today's motion on tackling inequalities, and particularly on her timing. Many of us will have heard this week's news from Oxfam that the richest 1 per cent of the world's population is on the brink of owning more wealth than the rest of us put together. One per cent of the population own half of all global wealth-that is obscene; that is immoral. What is worse is that that is damaging to our economy, to our society and to the values that should bind us together.

What I find particularly worrying is not just the levels of extreme inequality, but the fact that the problem is getting worse and the inequality gap is continuing to widen. As most families have struggled through the past half dozen years of recession, frozen wages and rising prices, the number of billionaires has doubled. That is positively dangerous—it is so unfair that it is difficult to imagine that it will not breed resentment. In terms of our responsibilities and record as members of the Scottish Parliament, it is a poor reflection on our political structures, our public policies and our democratic accountability that we have allowed such inequality to develop.

The good news is that there are strong signs that the world has woken up to inequality. I know that many members in the chamber, for example, have quoted from the seminal book "The Spirit Level: Why Equality is Better for Everyone". Oxfam is just one of the many organisations that are leading the way in challenging that threat to our way of life with its even it up campaign. In turn, it quotes supporters as diverse as Pope Francis and the International Monetary Fund.

The Scottish Government has woken up, too. I am pleased that it lodged the motion, but I am also slightly anxious. I am worried that the cabinet secretary believes that such a complex problem can simply be blamed on the UK Government and that everything that we do in Scotland is beneficial. I share her belief that Tory austerity and welfare reform policies are making matters worse, not better, but we—by which I mean all of us in the Scottish Parliament—must accept responsibility for the decisions that we take, too.

The educational attainment gap is widening, but responsibility for our schools, colleges and universities has been entirely devolved to the Scottish Parliament for the past 16 years. Progress on narrowing health inequalities has stagnated—in some cases, the situation is getting worse—but health has been entirely devolved to the Scottish Parliament for the past 16 years.

Mark McDonald (Aberdeen Donside) (SNP): I accept the points that the member raises, but is he not also aware that much of the evidence that has been received on those issues suggests that, at the point at which a child arrives at the school gate or an individual arrives at their general practitioner, the inequalities that affect their educational attainment or health have often already taken hold and that, by that time, it is a matter of managing a situation rather than tackling it?

Ken Macintosh: The member makes a good point about the impact of socioeconomic backgrounds, to which I will come. However, the logic of his argument is a logic of despair. He suggests that we cannot tackle health inequalities using health policies, and I simply do not agree with that. I simply do not agree that we make no difference through the educational and health policies that we decide in the Scottish Parliament.

Mark McDonald rose-

Ken Macintosh: I will give way in a minute.

The Scottish Government has received Labour support and will continue to have our support in pursuing policies that are fair, but Scottish National Party ministers too often confuse the pursuit of equity with the goal of tackling inequality. Free university tuition is just one example in that context. Scottish Labour supports that policy because it is equitable, but unless it is accompanied by action to widen access to Scots from all backgrounds, it will do little to reduce inequality. Unfortunately, the SNP's record on widening access is worse than that of the Tory Government in England, despite its horrendous fees.

Kevin Stewart (Aberdeen Central) (SNP): Will the member give way?

Ken Macintosh: In a minute.

In fact, the evidence clearly reveals that Scots from less well-off backgrounds are more likely to go to college than university. Therefore, we are not only not opening the door to higher education; ministers in Edinburgh have actually slammed the door shut to further education for more than 140,000 Scots.

We all know that education, skills and training provide among the best routes out of poverty and among the best ways to tackle social mobility and overcome inequality, but if a person in Scotland has to be middle class to access higher education in the first place, we are not reducing inequality; we are actually preserving it.

The Cabinet Secretary for Education and Lifelong Learning (Angela Constance): Does Mr Macintosh accept that statistics show that there is a 40 per cent increase in young people from disadvantaged backgrounds going into higher education? In the spirit of unity, does he also accept that there is, of course, a need for much more to be done, which is why a main feature of the programme for government was to set up the commission for widening access, which will be announced in a few weeks' time?

Ken Macintosh: Again, I do not doubt the cabinet secretary's good intentions or her desire to tackle the area, but the worrying fact is that the most vulnerable people in our society were among the biggest victims of the Scottish Government's decision making. Those with supported places at college or university suffered the biggest cuts when the education reforms went through in the past few years. Unfortunately, that is a sad reflection—

Kevin Stewart: Will the member give way?

Ken Macintosh: No, not at the moment. I will make some progress.

Even if we put education and health to one side for a moment, follow Mr McDonald's point and take an entirely economic determinist view of inequality, there is still much that we could do in the Scottish Parliament. For example, the cabinet secretary rightly highlights the importance of wages, but the Scottish Government seems to want to go only halfway with its support for the living wage. We are delighted that the cabinet secretary has partly adopted yet another Labour Party policy. [*Interruption.*] I am glad that the SNP is coming round to our way of thinking on that issue and on many other issues. However, I do not understand—perhaps the cabinet secretary can explain—why the Scottish Government does not insist that any company that enjoys a public sector contract should have an obligation to pay staff the living wage.

Why does the cabinet secretary not support wage differentials? I asked her that straightforward question, and she was slightly touchy about it. The living wage will lift people out of poverty and help to make work pay. However, if top salaries increase faster, as they have done, the inequality gap will widen, not narrow. The cabinet secretary might believe that the issue that we are discussing is one only for FTSE 100 companies but, as it happens, the Equality Trust has worked out that none of the largest companies that are bidding for public sector contracts in the UK pays their chief executive less than 59 times UK median earnings.

Even more directly, we are rightly proud of our universities yet, although they are among the worst offenders with regard to employing people on zero-hours contracts, they are also guilty of paying university principals salaries of £250,000 or more. We are talking about taxpayers' money. Do the ministers not see the contradiction in voting through a series of consecutive wage freezes or capped 1 per cent rises for those who are lower down the public sector while allowing such increases for those at the top?

I repeat, once more, that we are not saying that everything that the SNP does is wrong. Far from it. We have common ground in many areas. However, we cannot blind ourselves to the difference that we could make here in the Scottish Parliament. There are many contributions that we could make. With regard to education, investment in the early years is the most likely piece of investment to pay dividends. However, despite the tremendous expansion of nursery education in the first years of this Parliament, we have been overtaken by England—under the Tories, of all people—which has more places available for vulnerable people under the age of two than are available in Scotland.

We do not have to look very far in Scotland to see how entrenched we have allowed inequality to become. Fewer than 500 people now own more than half the private land in Scotland. In fact, 10 per cent of all land in Scotland is owned by 16 people. One of the Scottish Parliament's first achievements was to finally abolish feudal ownership and introduce the right for community buyouts, but the drive for land reform has made very little progress in recent years. The First Minister made encouraging noises in that regard. If she can translate her words into actions, we in Scottish Labour will offer our support.

There are many other areas of agreement that we should explore. For example, if we can agree that Scotland suffers from—and that our society and our economy are damaged by—unacceptable levels of inequality, I think that we have the right to know where the SNP stands on the redistribution of wealth. That is a basic Scottish Labour Party principle, which is reflected in our policy choices.

We are promising the people of Scotland that we will restore the top level of 50 per cent tax on all incomes over £150,000 a year, that we will introduce a mansion tax on houses worth more than £2 million and that we will tax the multimillion pound bonuses that are still received by bankers who were rescued by the taxpayer. Why will the SNP not match us on those promises? I challenge the cabinet secretaries today, in this debate, to commit the SNP to supporting Scottish Labour's pledge to introduce a 50p rate of tax.

Roseanna Cunningham: Will the member outline precisely what powers this Government would use to impose the tax changes that he is talking about? That would need tax powers that his party has no intention of ever devolving to this Parliament.

The Deputy Presiding Officer (Elaine Smith): Will you start to come to a conclusion, Mr Macintosh? I can give you a bit of extra time to compensate for the interventions.

Ken Macintosh: Apart from the fact that we are about to gain powers over that very area—[*Interruption*.]

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Order.

Ken Macintosh: We are about to get powers over the top rate of income tax. Further, we have a general election in a few months. In his summingup speech, will the cabinet secretary commit the SNP to reintroducing the top rate of income tax? What is so difficult about that? Why is it that the only taxes that you are willing to talk about are tax cuts for corporations and you will not talk about the basic principle of the redistribution of wealth?

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Please address your remarks through the chair, Mr Macintosh.

Ken Macintosh: I wanted to make some points about the inequality that is experienced by disabled people in Scotland, but it is clear that I have run out of time. I will return to that issue at another time. The Deputy Presiding Officer: I can give you around another 30 seconds to compensate for the interventions that you took.

Ken Macintosh: My point is that, with regard to the inequalities that divide our society, there are challenges facing us in the here and now. They will not all be solved by getting rid of the Tories, no matter how beneficial or desirable that may be. We need to start looking at our own decision making—our own powers in our own Scottish Parliament—and start work on building the good society that the people of Scotland want and need. Reducing inequality would be a great place to start.

I move amendment S4M-12095.4, to insert after "same":

"; believes that more can and should be done to extend the living wage to all those employed on public sector contracts; is concerned at growing inequalities in devolved areas such as health, the widening attainment gap in education and the increased use of charges in social care; calls on all in Scotland to use the powers at their disposal, including digital and transport access for those in rural areas, to reverse these trends".

14:44

Alex Johnstone (North East Scotland) (Con): Tackling inequalities is fundamental to a Parliament of this nature. People are, by and large, aspirational: they want to better themselves, and they want to get themselves into better positions and find better positions still for their children.

I and my party have always talked about equality, but as is the case in many discussions, we have perhaps talked of it in a slightly different tone. I remember, as I made my way up through politics, many of my contemporaries talking about equality of opportunity. That does not mean that everyone will have the same treatment, the same income or the same possessions. It means that young people who are starting out in life will all have the same chances as anyone else of achieving their aspirations.

That is why it is extremely important to me to be able to put the Conservative angle on the debate. Of course, "equalities" means different things to different people, but we all have an understanding that we are talking about how we might elevate people who find themselves disadvantaged in Scotland today.

We have already heard a fair bit from the Labour Party about redistribution of wealth. I think that redistribution of wealth through taxation will always be part of the Scottish political agenda, in spite of the fact that I might be less keen on it than others are. However, it is an irrelevance unless we first apply ourselves at least equally to the creation of wealth. That is where our current UK Government has done well; we have seen 160,000 extra jobs created in Scotland since 2010. Although many people will talk about the quality of those jobs, three quarters of them are full time.

John Mason (Glasgow Shettleston) (SNP): Will Alex Johnstone give way?

Alex Johnstone: I am afraid that I cannot take an intervention at this point.

Another concern is that Scotland has been successful in attracting a great many immigrants, particularly from eastern Europe, in that time. I will put down a marker that I always do: I am one of the few Conservatives who will never object to eastern European immigration because those immigrants make a vital contribution to the Scottish economy. However, it concerns me that we failed to get our own unemployed people into those jobs when they were created.

The Scottish Government complains that it does not have power over tax but, of course, it has had power over tax since 1999: it could vary the base rate by 3 per cent either way. Next year, it will have more powers and, with the publication of the white paper this week, we will hear about the extra powers that we will get to vary income tax more or less as we see fit. [*Interruption.*] The cabinet secretary's protest appears to indicate that she was not talking about income tax at all. It makes me worry that she is, perhaps, talking about wealth and inheritance tax, over which she will not have power under the current proposals.

Welfare reform will produce an important part of the change that we need to achieve. When it comes along, universal credit will, for the first time, give flexibility to allow people to get back into work while not losing the advantage of all their benefits. That flexibility will also include responsibility: opportunities for claimants to take responsibility for dealing with their own resources, including paying their rent, will be a vital part of the change.

That is why the budget for welfare in Scotland is going up, not down. As is pointed out in the amendment in Willie Rennie's name, which is a textbook amendment if ever I saw one—in fact, I think that he has copied the textbook out—a £2 billion rise in welfare spending is coming in the next two years.

The cabinet secretary complains that there have been £6 billion of cuts in the current five-year spending period. That is to measure the cuts without measuring the pluses. The fact is that much of that reduction of £6 billion is the removal of tax credits, which has been replaced by a massive increase in tax thresholds that, by April this year, will deliver more than £800 to every working individual. Mark McDonald: Will Alex Johnstone give way?

Alex Johnstone: I am afraid that I am just coming to the end of my remarks.

The problem is the one that we addressed at the beginning: equality of opportunity. Although wealth is being created in Scotland, jobs are being created in Scotland and jobs are being taken up in Scotland, we are not delivering the opportunity for our young people to get into those jobs in sufficient numbers. Our schools, our colleges, and our universities are failing to deliver the correct qualifications and aspirations to young people in certain areas. That is not a failure of the UK Government; it is a failure of the Scottish Government and it is a failure that has continued over time. That is not to mention the health inequalities, which obviously require that cycles be broken.

Bob Doris (Glasgow) (SNP): Will Alex Johnstone give way?

The Deputy Presiding Officer: The member is not giving way, Mr Doris.

Alex Johnstone: We also need to take seriously the issue of the living wage. My concern has been expressed in Parliament before: it is that the living wage, although it is an aspiration that we should all pursue, does not take account of the many small businesses that will struggle to pay it. In many of them, the proprietors will never be able to achieve that level of income. That is particularly poignant when we consider that many of our ethnic and immigrant communities have many of those small businesses within them.

This is an important debate and one that we need to take very seriously. We all need to understand each other's positions, which are different but have the same objective. We just have different routes to achieving that objective.

I move amendment S4M-12095.2, to leave out from "deplores" to end and insert:

"notes that, since the UK Government came into office, there are now 160,000 additional jobs in Scotland, which means that last year saw more people in work than ever before; recognises that, UK-wide, three-quarters of new jobs are in full-time positions and two-thirds are in skilled trades; accepts that the introduction of universal credit will significantly increase the flexibility for benefit claimants to enter employment without losing support; believes that universal credit will increase personal responsibility and reduce dependency, allowing more people to benefit from the economic recovery, which is the result of the UK Government's successful economic policies; expresses concern at the Scottish Government's lack of action on health and educational inequalities, particularly through its inaction on preventative spend, which promised to move 'from dealing with the symptoms of disadvantage and inequality towards tackling their root causes', but welcomes the Scottish Government's action in paying the living wage as part of its pay policy and, by supporting living wage accreditation, encouraging more organisations and

businesses to follow this example when they are able to do so." $% \left({{{\mathbf{x}}_{i}}} \right) = {{\mathbf{x}}_{i}} \right)$

14:51

Willie Rennie (Mid Scotland and Fife) (LD): I want to start where Alex Johnstone finished. There is no monopoly of virtue on tackling inequality or poverty in this chamber; it is just that we all have different routes to achieve it. I think that respecting each other for what we are trying to do in this area is an approach that we could all learn from.

Even one child living in poverty is unacceptable. Too many children who are born into poverty in this country die in poverty. Also, their life expectancy is so much shorter than that of many other people who are not suffering from poverty. Inequality is something that divides our society and it is something that I want to tackle, as a Liberal. I believe that the best way of trying to achieve that is to combine the great benefits of building a stronger economy with building a fairer society so that everyone gets an opportunity, regardless of their background-no matter where they come from, no matter what position they are born into and no matter their race, colour or creed. That is a very strong Liberal principle and I will always adhere to it because without-

John Mason: Will Willie Rennie give way?

Willie Rennie: I will not, just now.

Without fairness, it is difficult to create a truly strong economy and without a strong economy, it is difficult to create fairness. One is not possible without the other. That is why the UK Government has created 160,000 jobs since 2010, as Alex Johnstone rightly said. Actually, it has created more jobs than that; it has created 168,000 jobs since 2010. Despite what the SNP Government claims, the vast bulk of those are full-time jobs and skilled jobs.

The United Kingdom has one of the fastest growing economies in the G7. That means that we have 168,000 more wage packets going into households and 168,000 households that have a better opportunity in life. In tandem with economic growth, we have also introduced the biggest-ever change to our income tax system. Raising the tax threshold to £10,600 means that 260,000 people in the lowest-paid households—the lowest income tax whatsoever. That is very progressive. Those on low and middle incomes are benefiting too. More than 2 million taxpayers—

Roseanna Cunningham: Will Willie Rennie give way?

Willie Rennie: I will not, just now.

More than 2 million taxpayers in Scotland have had their tax cut by more than £800.

Kevin Stewart: Will the member give way?

Willie Rennie: No matter how loud he shouts, Mr Stewart will not get taken. I will give way to the minister.

Roseanna Cunningham: I am listening with care to Willie Rennie expounding on how much better things are getting. I wonder whether he has seen the in-work poverty statistics that were published this morning. If he has seen them, can he explain how there can be such a rise, against the backdrop of the wonderful picture that he is painting?

Willie Rennie: The reality is that we are facing very difficult economic circumstances— [Interruption.]

SNP ministers may scoff, but the UK Government has made the biggest change to our tax system, which has lifted a lot of people out of income tax altogether. If we had listened to the SNP Government, those people would not have received any of that benefit.

Members should remember that the SNP, in its white paper "Scotland's Future", did not support the Liberal Democrat proposal to go even further and raise the tax threshold to £12,500. The SNP simply wanted to increase the threshold in line with inflation.

Kevin Stewart: Will the member give way on that point?

Willie Rennie: That policy would not have benefited low-income and middle-income earners, so I will take no lectures from the SNP Government on trying to incentivise people into work and make things fairer for those in work.

Kevin Stewart: Will the member give way on that point?

The Deputy Presiding Officer: The member is not giving way, Mr Stewart.

Willie Rennie: We ought to go further, to £12,500, which will mean that people who are on the minimum wage will be taken out of income tax altogether. That would significantly benefit people on low incomes and those in low-income households.

In addition we are, by increasing the minimum wage, making a big difference to people on low pay. Vince Cable has advocated to the Low Pay Commission an acceleration in the rate of increase in the national minimum wage, starting last October. Now, for the first time in many years, wages are rising faster than inflation. Again, that offers good prospects for improving the conditions for people who are working.

That is one half of the equation in trying to tackle the inequality gap and build a stronger economy. The second part concerns what Government can do to increase opportunity. Despite the SNP's fine words on improving childcare, we are still lagging behind England in that area. Only 27 per cent of the poorest children in Scotland are benefiting from nursery education for two-year-olds, whereas in England the proportion is 40 per cent, which is much higher. One would think, given the rhetoric from SNP members, that childcare provision in Scotland is far superior, but the reality is that we are lagging far behind.

Roseanna Cunningham: Will the member give way?

Willie Rennie: I would love to, but I have only 30 seconds left. Perhaps we can cover the point when the minister sums up.

On childcare, it is important that the Scottish Government get its act together. Perhaps it should listen to the fine words of Bob Doris, who has made some great speeches on childcare. It is important that we move even further on childcare, and on mental health. That is another area of public life in which the Scottish Government needs to lift its efforts to enable more people to get back in to work, because so many are blighted by poorquality services that are provided by the NHS for dealing with mental illness.

Creating a stronger economy and a fairer society is necessary in order to reduce inequality. That is a principle to which Liberal Democrats will always adhere.

I move amendment S4M-12095.1, to leave out from "deplores" to end and insert:

"considers that even one child living in poverty is unacceptable; believes that the best way to tackle poverty is by creating more jobs and opportunity for everyone, regardless of background, and welcomes that, since May 2010, a job has been created each minute of every working day; notes that over 260,000 of the lowest paid workers in Scotland now pay no income tax and that over 2.2 million taxpayers in Scotland have had their taxes cut because of the increase to the personal allowance and supports the plans to increase the allowance to £12,500 in the next UK parliamentary term; welcomes the UK Government's decision to increase the national minimum wage from October 2014 and its acceptance in full of the Low Pay Commission's recommendations; recalls that the Scottish Government's white paper on independence did not support an increase in the personal allowance to £12,500, meaning that people on low incomes would have paid more tax and had less money to live on, but did propose a cut in corporation tax; further recalls that the white paper did not include an increase in social security spending of £2.5 billion, despite the Scottish Government and SNP members having called for spending increases; notes that the Expert Working Group on Welfare confirmed that, under the present UK administration, welfare spending is set to increase in Scotland by £2 billion by 2016-17; recalls that the Scottish Government's Fiscal Commission Working Group advised it to match the trajectory of UK deficit reduction, even beyond the 2015 general election; notes in particular that motion S4M-05521, which was approved on 31 January 2013 with the support of Scottish ministers and SNP members, named the priority for social security spending as increasing child benefit for people earning more than £60,000 per year; notes evidence and expert opinion that suggests that investment in the first three years of a child's life is critical for their future life chances: believes that investment in early years education and quality childcare can help to close the attainment gap as well as being a sound investment for economic and social wellbeing; welcomes the expansion of free childcare to 15% of two-year-olds in Scotland; believes that there should be a further expansion in free early years childcare to match the provision on offer in England, and considers that the best platform to achieve a strong economy and a fair society best able to tackle inequality and ensure opportunity for everyone is from an economy anchored in the centre ground, with spending and borrowing balanced to allow continued movement from economic rescue to recovery.'

The Deputy Presiding Officer: We come to the open debate. I ask for speeches of six minutes, please. There is at present a little bit of time for interventions.

14:58

Gordon MacDonald (Edinburgh Pentlands) (SNP): The Poverty Alliance highlights in its briefing the extent of in-work poverty in Scotland. It states:

"There are currently 820,000 people living in poverty in Scotland. Of these, 180,000 are children. Overall, 19% of children are living in poverty, and almost two thirds of these are in a household where someone works. Low benefit levels and poor labour market conditions mean that people are finding it harder and harder to make ends meet. While work was once thought to be a route out of poverty, more than half of adults living in poverty today, live in households where someone works."

Governments around the world have the ability to put in place policies to tackle poverty in society by setting a minimum wage or designing a welfare system to support families that are struggling to make ends meet, but that is not the case in Scotland. The Scottish Government has no control of either the minimum wage or the welfare system as those areas are reserved to Westminster.

Since 2008, successive Labour, Conservative and Lib Dem Governments have failed to ensure that the minimum wage has kept pace with inflation. The Resolution Foundation calculates that that leaves the minimum wage £1,010 lower a year than it was in 2008. Last year, following the referendum, there were calls to devolve the minimum wage to Holyrood so that we could set the rate here. Once again, though, Westminster parties failed families in Scotland by not supporting the SNP proposals.

When it comes to the changes to the welfare system introduced by the Conservative and Lib-Dem coalition, the Scottish Government is left trying to mitigate the worst aspects, rather being in a position to create a welfare system that is simple, makes work pay and lifts people out of poverty.

In the past year, the Scottish Government has maintained funding for the Scottish welfare fund, offset the cost of the bedroom tax to families and mitigated the cut in funding for council tax benefit. The difficulty is that the Tories, as part of their austerity measures, are planning to slice billions off working-age benefits by measures such as freezing child benefit and tax credits, resulting in a low-wage family with one child losing more than £350 a year.

As the motion states, the work of the Scottish Government's fair work convention

"to promote and sustain a fair employment framework"-

for Scotland is-

"at risk of being undermined by the £6 billion of welfare cuts being made by the UK Government."

The fair work convention is about bringing together unions, employers, public sector bodies and Government to promote good industrial relations, to highlight the fact that business productivity increases with the payment of fair wages and to promote the living wage to employers.

The Procurement Reform (Scotland) Act 2014 made it clear that one of the factors that authorities will require to evaluate is a contractor's approach to pay and the living wage. Public authorities will be required to set out, in their procurement strategies, what their policy is in relation to ensuring that the companies with which they contract pay the living wage.

Since April 2014, 100 employers in Scotland have been registered with the living wage accreditation scheme. They range from builders to universities and from tour companies to local authorities. We need to encourage all companies and organisations that currently pay the living wage to register. Only one local authority out of 32 and one distillery out of 90 are listed as accredited living wage employers. Only one bank, two housing associations, one university and two colleges are registered. Are there really no others in those sectors that pay the living wage?

Eighteen per cent of the workforce are paid below the living wage; the majority of those are in the private sector and are women. They mainly work in retail, hospitality or the social sector, and yet no supermarkets, hotels or restaurants, and only a handful of care organisations, are listed as accredited employers.

In its report "Work That Pays", the Living Wage Commission looked at the business case for introducing the living wage. It stated that it "has established that the Living Wage can open the door to productivity increases for businesses. This is the result of Living Wage employees contributing higher levels of effort and an openness to changing job roles. Other business benefits include cost-saving opportunities from increasing staff retention and the stability of the workforce, as well as reduced absenteeism. The evidence points to improved levels of morale, motivation and commitment from staff across the pay distribution in Living Wage workplaces."

The commission also examined the public policy case for introducing the living wage. It referred to an analysis provided by Landman Economics that shows that, across the UK,

"the Exchequer could gain up to £4.2 billion in increased tax revenues and reduced expenditure on tax credits and other in-work benefits from an increase in coverage of the Living Wage."

The report went on to say:

"There could be further multiplier effects arising from putting a modest amount of disposable income into the pockets of the UK's lowest paid staff, with demand subsequently increasing in the economy."

The Scottish Government has led the way as a living wage employer and some organisations across Edinburgh, including CHAI—the Community Help and Advice Initiative—based in my constituency, have stepped up to the mark. We need other employers to recognise the benefit to their business, the wider community and society of paying the living wage and to lead by example.

15:04

Rhoda Grant (Highlands and Islands) (Lab): The Health and Sport Committee's recent inquiry into health inequalities showed clearly that they are a symptom of an unequal society rather than the cause. The cause is income inequality, which in turn leads to inadequate housing, which means that people live in cold, damp properties because they cannot afford any better. They eat inadequate diets. We all know that a meal of pie, beans and chips is much cheaper than a hearty beef stew and potatoes. People do not choose to feed themselves or their families on unhealthy food; they have to, or else they go hungry. It is sad that rickets has come back among young people in our society, as past generations thought that they had eradicated it totally from this country.

When someone is cold, hungry and in poverty, that impacts on their physical health, their ability to fight infection and their ability to concentrate. Education is impacted because of the difficulty of studying in a cold home on an empty stomach. A parent's priority becomes keeping the roof over their family's heads and trying to feed their children as best as possible. Things such as homework become less of a priority when basic survival is difficult. Therefore, children who are brought up in poverty seldom reach their full potential. We know that, if someone is born in poverty, they are more likely to live in poverty. A mother's income influences her child's future income. Therefore, a vicious cycle of poverty starts, with little hope of people changing their life chances. The gender pay gap keeps women's incomes low. If that results in their children receiving lower pay in future, we start a cycle of poverty by paying women less.

There is no easy fix, which is why fighting poverty should be cross department and cross committee. Indeed, if we were really committed, it should be an issue for every organisation, business and individual in the country. The whole of society loses when a child does not grow up to reach their full potential, as that diminishes what they can contribute. It means that society will in future have to intervene to deal with the health problems that are caused by poverty. Taxpayers must supplement the income of people in poverty, who will never reach their full earning potential. Had we tackled their poverty in childhood, they would have been contributing to society rather than taking from it.

Exercise and recreation are important for health, but facilities for that are often missing from our most needy communities. Deprived areas are beset with social problems such as drug taking, which makes parents reluctant to put their children out to play. Nor can they afford the after-school clubs that many of us take for granted. Even if the facilities are there, is there spare money in the home for a football strip and boots or for dance shoes or the like? Money is required to travel to clubs and sporting facilities and, depending on the age of the child, the parent might need to go with them. All those things are barriers to accessing exercise. Children miss out on more than exercise; they miss out on the opportunity to socialise, interact and learn skills that are necessary in later life for building personal and professional relationships.

Living in poverty and hopelessness impacts on people's mental health—hence the increased levels of drug taking and alcohol misuse in poorer communities, as people self-medicate to deal with their circumstances. That in turn impacts on their general health and their ability to nurture their children. How can someone instil hope and ambition in their children if they have none themselves?

The issues do not end there, however. We know that poverty leads to poorer health and a lower life expectancy. Therefore, we need to invest more resources in health and social care for those who suffer in that way. The Royal College of Nursing initiative nursing at the edge shows what community nursing intervention can do to help change people's circumstances and support them. The deep-end general practitioners also report on the complex issues that they need to deal with, which involve not only people's health but the social circumstances that impact on health. That means that such people require more input from professionals and closer working between professionals to deal with the complex problems that they find.

However, it is less likely that poorer areas will enjoy better services that are based on need. The inverse care law suggests that those who are in greater need tend to receive fewer services, which can be for a number of reasons. People are less likely to seek medical help because they do not have the sense of entitlement that others have to good health. Services are often some distance away, inaccessible or comparatively expensive to access using public transport. The daily pressures of fighting for survival often leave people with little time to take care of themselves.

If we are to encourage people to access healthcare sooner, we need to provide that care in a way that is accessible to them and that fits with the pressures and circumstances that they face. We have some way to go before we achieve that. As a minimum, we need to allow health professionals time to work with people, in order that they can signpost them to services that deal with their other problems.

Health inequalities can be tackled only by creating a fairer society, in which wealth is shared and opportunity is open to all. Until that happens, we all need to foot the bill for dealing with the consequences of inequality. We need to ensure that resources are placed where they meet the greatest need, which requires targeting funding if there is not enough to go around. We all like universal services, but when there is an inbuilt inequality in our society we must target services to those who are in most need. The alternative is that we all pay more to meet that need. If we are not willing to acknowledge that fact, we are acknowledging that we live in an unfair and selfish society.

15:11

Christina McKelvie (Hamilton, Larkhall and Stonehouse) (SNP): Inequality is cyclical and self-perpetuating. If we start off with low performance in the economy, low pay, children in poverty and people in work needing food banks, already the pattern is set for health inequalities, and reduced school performance fewer opportunities to progress into decent employment, and the cycle comes full circle before the same depressing journey starts all over again. Carol Craig, in her book, "The Tears that made the Clyde" likened it to the Glasgow effect, but it is not restricted to Glasgow.

It does not need to be like this. Westminster has failed Scotland, with the exception of the already very wealthy in the country estates and grand houses, who do very well under the current Government. People are watching their prosperity and their opportunities dwindle at an alarming speed. Increasing levels of poverty and inequality are a clear sign that the UK Government's economic and social policies are failing Scotland. Why spend £100 billion on weapons of mass destruction and not spend it on opportunities for our young people?

Neil Findlay: Ms McKelvie spoke about those people in grand houses. Would she advocate something like increasing stamp duty for people in those grand houses?

Christina McKelvie: Maybe Mr Findlay should take lessons from his colleague Katy Clark, who he backed in the recent leadership battle, and not vote for £30 billion-worth of austerity cuts. If he did that he would not have to look at the people in the grand mansions, because he would be focused on the people who struggle to pay their rent every day.

A few years ago, most food bank visitors were homeless folk who lived on the street. Now the larger number of clients are families who have a parent working. What does that tell us about inequality? In the 21st century, in one of the richest countries in the western world, the gap between the rich and the poor is widening dramatically. This Scottish Government has made advances, but in effect it is powerless to make any big changes without further devolved powers. I would love to have the same crystal ball that Ken Macintosh has, because obviously he knows what is in the Smith bill.

The situation must change. On Thursday we will see what is in it.

Ken Macintosh: Will the member give way?

Christina McKelvie: Maybe Ken Macintosh will tell us where he got his crystal ball.

Ken Macintosh: The minister seems to be suggesting that tax powers are not coming to this Parliament. Does Ms McKelvie believe that that is the case?

Christina McKelvie: Ms McKelvie will not put any focus on any Smith commission bill unless it delivers on the vow—and I very much doubt that it will.

This is the UK Government's chance to live up to its word and the Labour Party's chance to live up to its vow: the chance to deliver on the powers that were promised in the final days of the referendum and translate those proposals into real action. In this Scottish Government, we believe that equality and cohesion are good for growth as well as good for individuals, and we will do all that we can within our powers to tackle inequality. Of course, inequality is about a great deal more than the money in people's pockets. Health, education, gender, race, skills, training, job choices and access to services are all significant issues in this crucial balancing act.

Seeking an equal, fair and prosperous economy demands two fundamentals: first, recognition that a strong economy is both the driver and the follower of a fair and equal society and, secondly, that Government has the power, the vision and the commitment to build genuine equality for all.

This Government has everything except enough power to bring about structural change. We pay the living wage to all our public service staff, but we need to control the minimum wage. We need to end zero-hours contracts and the unfair umbrella scams in our construction industry.

Unlike Westminster, we have given our national health service staff a modest pay rise. Scotland has the highest employment rate and the lowest unemployment and inactivity rates of all four UK nations, but we have a London Government, backed in full last week by the Labour Party, bringing about another £6 billion of cuts on top of those already in place.

We do not create a more prosperous economy and a fairer society by ensuring that the most vulnerable and the needy are the ones who are pushed further away. If we hold young mothers back from returning to work because childcare costs are too high, we do not improve the economy; we hold it back, and we hold back that woman's own prosperity and that of her family, too.

Female employment in Scotland has reached its highest level on record, rising to 1.3 million, up 46,000 in the past year. If we provide, as this Scottish Government does, a decent, free childcare facility, we bring women back into the workforce. That in turn creates more wealth, better tax revenues and a healthier economy.

Building equality will not be an overnight job. We all need to be engaged, not just the Government. There is a crucial role for all the organisations that we have heard about—NHS Scotland, Oxfam, the Scottish Council for Voluntary Organisations, the Coalition for Racial Equality and Rights and all of civil society.

I would love to be a part of doing just what Oxfam has asked for in its global report, "Even it Up: Time to End Extreme Inequality", and I know full well that many of my colleagues across this chamber and in the Scottish Government would love to do the same, but we are denied the powers in this place to allow us to move forward substantially with our ideals and vision. We do what we can within the powers that are granted to us.

Last week, the Scottish Government and the STUC committed to closer working to achieve their shared vision of a wealthier and more equal society for Scotland. The establishment of a fair work convention will further enhance how Government, employers, trade unions and employees engage to embed progressive workplace practices. I ask ministers to have a close look at the umbrella scam issue-Channel 4's "Dispatches" did a piece on it last night. They cut out some material, but hopefully we can gather some of that evidence. Grahame Smith, the STUC general secretary, has welcomed the approach, saving:

"this stands in sharp contrast to the outdated approach from the Government at Westminster which does not recognise the positive contribution that trade unions bring to society and the importance of fair work in achieving key economic and social objectives."

I ask Mr Findlay, what trade union legislation did Tony Blair overturn in his time in government? The answer is none.

We share the desire for a better Scotland and we will make it happen.

15:17

Margaret McCulloch (Central Scotland) (Lab): Since this Parliament was established in 1999, I believe that we have proven collectively that we are at our very best when tackling head on the inequalities that scar our nation, from breaking new ground with land reform to confronting old prejudices such as homophobia and bigotry; challenging the stigma around mental health; speaking out against female genital mutilation; standing up to traffickers and those who exploit migrants; exposing the conditions in which too many Gypsy Travellers are forced to live; and giving a platform to carers, young people, disadvantaged pensioners. the and the underrepresented.

This young Parliament can mature—and has matured—by addressing the inequalities that afflict Scotland no matter how challenging, by fostering genuine equality and diversity and by championing the human rights written into our founding statute.

We have challenged some of the most pernicious, the most complex and often the most sensitive of social inequalities. Where necessary, many of us will even have challenged ourselves and our own assumptions about equality and we will have challenged our Scottish Government, too, in pursuit of a fairer Scotland. That is fair. That is what the Parliament of a compassionate, socially progressive country must do. Where we find injustice, we must confront it.

In a briefing to members, Oxfam has shone a light on some of those injustices. Citing the Scottish Government, it says that the richest 10 per cent of households in Scotland have 900 times the accumulated wealth of the poorest.

Audit Scotland says that the average healthy life expectancy of people living in the least deprived areas in Scotland is around 18 years higher than that of people living in the most deprived areas. More than half of the lowest achieving secondary 4 pupils in Scotland's schools come from the three most deprived income deciles.

I appeal for all of us to confront those economic, health and educational inequalities and the issues of social justice that we are debating today with the same rigour that we have applied to equal opportunities and social affairs.

We cannot pull our punches in the fight against inequality. It is for that reason that I intend to support the Labour amendment. We must do all that we can, using every means at our disposal, to narrow the gap and fashion a fairer, more equal society. Like the Scottish Government, I believe that the coalition's economic and social policies are failing. After the slowest recovery in 100 years, Scotland and the UK are still struggling with a cost-of-living crisis and rising inequality.

There is an alternative. We can build a higherwage, better-skilled economy that is supported by good public services and rich with opportunities not just for some, but for all. We all have to play our part. We in this Parliament are not bystanders. We have a duty to find solutions and not just excuses.

Most of us in the chamber agree that the national minimum wage successfully set a floor below which wages are not allowed to fall, tackling the worst of poverty pay and reducing wage inequality. Most of us also agree that the living wage would reduce in-work poverty, improve employee retention and wellbeing and even improve productivity in the workplaces of living wage employers.

The Scottish Government has previously explained its hesitancy to legislate to guarantee that the public sector uses its purchasing power to secure the living wage from contractors, but it has not given a good reason why it refused to accept constructive non-legislative proposals from my Labour colleagues last year for a national living wage strategy and a Scottish living wage unit. We must do more to promote the living wage for the sake of those who are struggling to get by.

I also want to highlight the case for early intervention and preventative spending. Many of

us will know about the work of experts in that field, including those in the violence reduction unit, Suzanne Zeedyk and Sir Harry Burns. We could close the life expectancy gap and the attainment gap by addressing the social determinants of inequalities, intensifying our focus on the early years, tackling insecurity in people's lives and building a sense of coherence and community.

In its "Scottish Spending Review 2011 and Draft Budget 2012-13", the Scottish Government committed itself to

"a decisive shift towards preventative spending."

I was a member of the Finance Committee at the time. However, in its recent report on the draft budget for 2015-16, the Finance Committee states:

"there is little evidence of the essential shift in resources taking place to support a preventative approach."

That view is also endorsed by Audit Scotland. To address the inequalities that hold Scotland back, the Scottish Government must embrace the practice and not simply the theory of preventative spending.

As I have said, this Parliament is at its best when it is unashamedly confronting the inequalities that hold Scotland back. We should be offended by injustice and frustrated by inaction. For that reason, I call on the Scottish Government to strengthen its commitment to both the living wage and early intervention.

15:23

Bob Doris (Glasgow) (SNP): I begin by referring to the Health and Sport Committee's recent report on health inequalities. A key thread that runs through that report is the link to economic inequalities. Whether it is through poorquality, low-paid or temporary work, the committee is clear that income inequality and poverty link directly to significant health inequalities throughout people's lives. I am therefore pleased that the motion for this debate on tackling inequalities gets to the root causes of the fundamental health inequalities that our country suffers from.

This debate, therefore, is not just about the money in the pockets of Scotland's workers and families, although that is important, and it is not just about the patterns of work, which can affect the quality of our lives and disempower some of our most vulnerable communities. It is also about ensuring that the poorest people in our society live longer than they are living now, that they are healthier and happier, that they feel more secure and empowered and, hopefully, that their longevity increases. That is a huge obligation on everyone in this Parliament, and the challenge in the motion before us is to be successful in that regard. The motion does not mention health, but every successful action that is referred to in the motion will have positive health consequences for the most vulnerable in society, whom we all represent.

On that front, I am very pleased to see that an independent adviser on poverty and inequality is to be appointed by the Scottish Government and that there is to be a poverty impact assessment for future Scottish Government legislation. I wonder whether the cabinet secretary can give cognisance to the issue of health inequalities being part of the independent adviser's remit, although I accept that the nature of its independence means that the cabinet secretary must be careful about how prescriptive he is. In addition, it would be useful to have information on whether the poverty impact assessments could give cognisance to health.

We heard earlier in the debate the statistic that 59 per cent of children in poverty stay in a household in which only one adult is in employment, whereas in 2009-10 that figure was 43 per cent. The fact that things are getting dramatically worse is an absolute disgrace. That situation needs to be challenged, and two of the most obvious actions—I accept that there are others—to tackle that disgrace are, first, actions around the minimum and living wage; and, secondly, actions around the tax credit system.

In relation to the tax credit system, recent reforms have put 100,000 households deeper into poverty, and 80 per cent of those households contain children. The Scottish Parliament has no control over the minimum wage or the tax credit system. For the parts of the living wage over which the Scottish Government has control, it implements the living wage in all its pay policies as standard. I do not want to get drawn into debate with Labour over whether it is legal—

Margaret McCulloch: Will the member take an intervention?

Bob Doris: Excuse me one second and let me develop my point, please.

I do not want to get into a debate with Labour when it says that the Scottish Government has the power now to enforce the living wage elsewhere. This is not a bun fight. If the Scottish Government thought that it could enforce the living wage elsewhere, it would do so—it has made that clear. Let us not have petty political point scoring over the issue; let us work together to improve the income of the most vulnerable people in society.

I turn to what we can do together. It would be for Labour to justify why some of the powers that would improve and enhance the lives of those whose lives are blighted by poverty are not coming to this place, which is what I would like. However, in terms of the powers that we have in this place, how can we promote a living wage? We have heard about the Poverty Alliance's living wage accreditation scheme.

Margaret McCulloch: Will the member take an intervention?

Duncan McNeil (Greenock and Inverclyde) (Lab): Will the member take an intervention?

Bob Doris: I apologise to Duncan McNeil, but I should take Margaret McCulloch's intervention.

Margaret McCulloch: Does the member not think that if the Government backed and supported a Scottish living wage unit, that would encourage employers to introduce the living wage?

Bob Doris: I do not see how more can be done to encourage employers to deliver on the living wage than to empower the Poverty Alliance to go about its business, given that it has recently signed up the 100th employer to deliver on a living wage. I think that a little bit of party politics is coming in here. If an idea is a good thing, we will do it—we do not care whose idea it is. I say to Labour that we would do it as the right thing to do.

I offer a couple of ideas. I am very proud of the small business bonus scheme that we have in Scotland, which supports many small businesses. Of course, not all of those businesses pay the living wage. I like to think that, where possible, we can use the small business bonus scheme to incentivise small businesses to move towards paying a living wage. The scheme is a blunt unintended instrument and have can consequences. [Interruption.] I note Labour members cheering at that. However, it is worth exploring what we can do with the scheme with regard to the living wage, and we could do likewise with the use of apprenticeships in Scotland.

I do not think that every employer can just pay the living wage overnight, but I think that most of our employers should have, where they can, a strategy towards paying the living wage. We can follow that route of travel together.

Another key part of the Health and Sport Committee's report was about the health consequences of the £6 billion welfare reform that is befalling Scotland. I finish as I started by saying that we will do all that we can in this Parliament to mitigate the worst aspects of inequality, but the root causes of that and the powers to deal with it sit in another place. That is not to let the Scottish Government off the hook; we must work together in partnership. However, let us not kid ourselves: the real levers of power sit elsewhere.

15:30

Christine Grahame (Midlothian South, Tweeddale and Lauderdale) (SNP): We can all sign up to building a fairer Scotland and tackling inequalities, and we fully support the payment of the living wage, given the importance of work not just for the financial security and sense of worth that it brings an individual, but for the role that it plays in enabling them to have a healthy physical, mental and social life.

I want to quote from an article in *Scottish Justice Matters* of June 2014, which touches on some of the issues that Bob Doris, Duncan McNeil and other members have raised in the Parliament over a long period of time. It says:

"People who come to the attention of the criminal justice system in Scotland are drawn predominantly from communities that experience poor physical and mental health, often associated with a lifetime of social exclusion, lack of employment, hope, purpose and their consequences."

I say to Bob Doris that one of the depressing things about having been a member for 15 years is the knowledge that we have been talking about the inequalities in health for a very long time, regardless of which party has been in government. I recall that when I was the convener of the Health and Sport Committee, Harry Burns, the then chief medical officer for Scotland, told us that inequality begins in the womb. The mother might have a poor diet and she might be a smoker, an alcoholic or an addict. Tragically, babies have been born with foetal alcohol syndrome and withdrawal symptoms. I remember a long campaign that Duncan McNeil was involved in on the drug dependency of families and the need to tackle that because of the impact that it had on the children. Regrettably, achieving societal change through politics is sometimes like turning round the proverbial oil tanker.

The inequalities that begin before birth continue till death. We know that in the poorest areas of Glasgow death is premature in comparison with the national average. I want to focus on the one area in which, ironically, inequality is a plus-it is a plus for those who seek a criminal career, who end up as guests of Her Majesty in prison. Addiction makes a significant contribution to people being incarcerated. Many prisoners from young offenders to those in the women's institutions to those in the adult prisons have a long history of drug and alcohol abuse. Many also-as a consequence of or separately from that-have mental health problems, which often led directly to their committing offences. Those are sad circumstances. Even more depressingly, such problems permeate through the familysometimes over generations-to the extended family and the community beyond.

As the article that I quoted from says, those families and communities are often in highly deprived areas of no employment, low employment or no expectation of employment. Although we have long since moved away from prisons being merely places of punishment with turnkeys to being places where freedom is deprived but we hope to rehabilitate, and where prison officers play a substantial role in the rehabilitation process, the revolving door of recidivism continues.

Big moves have been made to ensure that throughcare starts in prison and continues outside it. The worst time for a prisoner can be the day that they come out of prison; it might be six to eight weeks later and, in some cases, a few years afterwards. That is particularly the case if they are not supported in the community, where they might get drawn back into the lifestyle that resulted in their ending up in prison in the first place.

Although the Scottish Prison Service is endeavouring to turn around the lives of such people, we must realise that some 60 per cent of prisoners have difficulties with literacy—reading and writing—which is a very basic thing, and some have problems with numeracy, too. The challenge to society across all portfolios and all politics is momentous.

Despite the improvements that have been made in throughcare, when prisoners are discharged they end up back in communities where they carry the burden of the huge inequalities that they have borne since their childhood to do with their health, their education and their lack of basic skills and find themselves in a challenging situation that we would find difficult to face. Sorting out such inequalities is a tough call. There are a few good employers who proactively take on ex-prisoners, to give them a chance, but many employers will not do that. That is a further inequality.

I am glad that the debate has expanded beyond the living wage, although that is important, to look at the root causes of inequality and how inequality crosses from health to justice to education, with everything sometimes crashing together in the catastrophe of imprisonment for some people.

We need to deal with the fundamental inequalities. I say to members of the Scottish Parliament, whether they have been here for three years or eight, please let us not find ourselves discussing this another four or five years down the line; there are solutions out there, which are not party political.

Perhaps, for a start, we need to grasp the issue of getting the public at large to understand that some people in prison are victims. Of course they might have erred and lost the right to freedom of movement, but they have come to that place for a reason, some of which is to do with our society letting them down. 15:36

Duncan McNeil (Greenock and Inverclyde) (Lab): Another Tuesday and another debate on a topic on which there is probably more to unite us than there is to divide us, although—as usual—the way in which it has been set up is such that at times someone in the public gallery might think that there is no agreement at all.

We are dealing with an issue that engenders frustration and anger. I represent a constituency where nearly a fifth of people are income deprived and rates of mortality from all causes are higher than the national average, so we have every right to be angry and frustrated.

However, we owe those people more than anger. As members, including Christine Grahame, said, we need to be honest and accept that we are dealing with a wide issue, which cuts right across Government and society, and which is complex and difficult, requiring commitment and hard political decisions.

This is not just about the divide between the super-rich and the super-poor. It is about the divide between people on low pay and people on no pay, male and female, old and young, and able and disabled. Moreover, the issue cannot be attributed to a single moment in history, to a single Government or party or—even in this moment of crisis—to austerity.

We would do well to remember what Campbell Christie said when he was asked to consider the issue, which I mentioned in last week's debate on public services:

"Alongside a decade of growth in public spending, inequalities have grown too".

Even when we had the money, did we spend it wisely? Despite significant investment, in-work poverty is rising, educational attainment is falling and the health gap between different parts of the country is widening.

The allocation of finance is important in tackling inequalities, but money alone cannot solve the problem. We have to ensure that we have the right policies in place and the determination to see them through.

We have been focusing on the growing number of people who find themselves in work but on benefits and in poverty. Did we really think that cuts in the bus service operators grant, which pushed up fares, would not affect the working poor? Did we really think that decisions to cut the housing budget would not lead to rents being put up for the working poor? Did we really think that cutting local government spending would not push up the cost of childcare?

All those actions, for which we bear responsibility, impacted negatively and

disproportionately on the working poor. We need to be clear about the objectives that we are trying to achieve. We must do better. If we want to tackle inequality, the left hand needs to know what the right hand is doing.

We also need to be honest and not pretend that the argument has been won—that all that we need is more money and new powers. Harry Burns has been mentioned a couple of times in the debate. He told the Health and Sport Committee:

"Part of the challenge is about not just pulling a set of policy levers, but creating a sense of community and of compassion ... I listened to Amartya Sen, the Nobel prizewinning economist, giving a lecture ... entitled 'Poverty and the tolerance of the intolerable'. His analysis as to why societies such as India tolerate extremes of poverty is not that there is nothing that they can do about it—there is plenty that they could do about it—nor that they do not care about it, but that the middle classes do not understand how destructive poverty is. They think, 'We live with people, we know they're poor, but if they get free schools and a free health service and that kind of thing, it can't be that bad.'"

Harry Burns also said:

"Gerry Hassan's new book argues that Scotland's problem is a lack of empathy and connectedness; indeed, the Glasgow Centre for Population Health's comparative analysis of Glasgow, Liverpool and Manchester shows that although the three cities are the same in terms of inequality and average income they differ significantly in their causes of premature death, and that the set of indicators that is completely different between the three cities is that related to empathy and connectedness."—[Official Report, Health and Sport Committee, 13 May 2014; c 5379, 5378.]

We present our aspirations in our election manifestos, and when we win the argument we can get on our high horse in this chamber and say, "This is what we need to deliver." However, as well as having aspirations we need to win the argument, and the argument has not been won. There is no clear commitment to empathy and connectedness in our society. When we win that, it will be up to us politicians to deliver the fairer Scotland that our society deserves.

15:42

Kevin Stewart (Aberdeen Central) (SNP): Analysis by the Equality Trust shows that the UK is the fourth most unequal country in the OECD and that the overall number of people who are living in relative poverty in our country rose to 1 million in 2012-13. We also know that many of the families that are struggling to get by have family members in work. Fifty-nine per cent of children who live in poverty live in households with at least one adult in employment.

Between April 2013 and March 2014, 71,428 people, including 22,387 children, received a three-day supply of emergency food from Trussell Trust food banks in Scotland. The figures for December, which have just been released, show that 10,489 folk were helped by the Trussell Trust

in Scotland, which is the highest number on record, and that a third of those were children. Those figures are absolutely shocking, and they show clearly that the austerity policies of the Tory-Liberal Government, which have also been adopted by Labour, are failing Scotland and the people of Scotland.

We hear from certain folk, "Oh, well, we've done this," and, "This may work." We heard that from Mr Rennie today when he spoke about personal allowances. Mr Rennie would be wise to listen to what some of the experts think that the raising of personal allowances has done. They think that that policy has benefited the rich more than the poor.

Julia Unwin, chief executive of the Joseph Rowntree Foundation, said:

"Raising the personal tax allowance is an expensive way of helping the working poor—most of the additional money will actually go to better-off families, while poorer families only keep a third of the tax cut."

The Institute for Public Policy Research stated:

"But the poorest households gain less from this change, and households in almost all sections of the income distribution will see a greater amount taken away through the 1 per cent cap on benefits uprating than is handed to them via personal tax reform."

It goes on. The Institute for Fiscal Studies stated that the people who will gain most from the personal allowance rises are

"those in the upper-middle of the overall income distribution."

Those are the facts.

Alex Johnstone rose—

Kevin Stewart: That is not redistribution; nor is it progressive as Mr Rennie would have us say. It is a case of Mr Rennie getting in his excuses for backing the austerity policies of the Tories.

On that note, I will give way to Mr Johnstone so that he can defend Mr Rennie—or not, as the case may be.

Alex Johnstone: Is the member aware that the increase in the basic rate tax threshold was entirely financed by reducing the upper rate tax threshold? As a consequence of that, the total amount of tax stayed the same, but the poor paid less of it.

Kevin Stewart: That is not what the Joseph Rowntree Foundation, the IPPR or the IFS are saying. In response to Mr Johnstone, I point out that what we have seen is a form of regressive taxation, with a cut from 50 to 45 per cent for the richer in society—something that he obviously wants to see; something that I do not think was right.

We hear from the Labour Party about taxing the richer folk in society. It forgets that for most of its time in government the highest tax band was 40 per cent—not the 45 per cent rate that it is now, but 40 per cent. That is not progressive taxation. I would want to see Mr Findlay rise to defend that position if he can.

Neil Findlay: I wonder whether Mr Stewart can advise us whether he supports the 50p rate that Labour would impose if in government. If not, what level of taxation would he support?

Kevin Stewart: I can tell you now, Mr Findlay, that if I had been in the House of Commons at the time of the vote on the reduction of the tax rate from 50 to 45 per cent, I would have voted to retain the 50 per cent rate. [*Interruption*.]

The Deputy Presiding Officer (John Scott): Mr Findlay, that is enough.

Kevin Stewart: I will tell the member something else that I would not have done: last week, I would not have entered the division lobby with the Labour Party, joining the Tories to vote for more austerity.

At least Katy Clark, Mr Findlay's running mate in the Scottish Labour Party leadership elections, had the sense to vote with the Scottish National Party, Plaid Cymru and the Greens—the more progressive parties—against austerity. During the campaign, she asked:

"Which side are you on? An end to austerity vs No clear plan to tackle rising inequality".

That was obviously an attack on the Blairite Murphy, because we have seen Katy Clark go agin everything that that Blairite has done since.

It is time that Labour members were truly honest with the people of this country about what they are about. They are no longer socialist—they have not been so for a long while. They are led by a Blairite here in Scotland, and they will gladly walk through the lobbies with the Tories to vote for more austerity and they are likely to vote for Trident renewal today. They should be honest with the Scottish public.

15:49

Nigel Don (Angus North and Mearns) (SNP): I start from the position that inequalities affect us all; I also note that we discussed most of the issues at John Mason's members' business debate. Apart from Neil Findlay, I am the only other member here who contributed to the debate. We can largely rerun the debate and I will be asking the Labour Party a couple of questions that it was unable to answer at that time.

I am delighted that "The Spirit Level: Why Equality is Better for Everyone" was mentioned,

which of course is the red paper on Scotland. I note that the book even made it into some of my other reading material, because I occasionally like to make sure that I know what the other parties are thinking. We will see where the paper takes the Labour Party, but it seems to have registered that inequalities affect us all, they are bad for us all and they affect every area of life.

I would like to take Ken Macintosh, in particular, back to a debate that we had last November, because he mentioned then the Oxfam report on extreme inequalities around the world. It seems to me that if we think about the extremes, even if we do not have them here, we may learn something about what is going on and be able to derive something from that.

I think that one of the fundamental lessons to which Oxfam alluded was that extreme inequalities generate their own barriers. If a person is sufficiently poor, there is no prospect that they will get together the wherewithal to give them or their family the education that will give them the opportunity to get out of poverty. There is a level below which there is simply no escape.

Ken Macintosh: I welcome Nigel Don's point and acknowledge part of what he is saying certainly that socioeconomic deprivation creates extreme barriers—but I question his assertion that extreme inequalities do not exist in Scotland. For example, what is his view of the fact that fewer than 500 people own more than half the land of Scotland?

Nigel Don: Forgive me. Let me go back. I was talking about extreme poverty. I may not have put things correctly. I am sorry: the land is an issue that we will come back to another day, otherwise we will never make any progress, but I am with Ken Macintosh. The point is that the levels of poverty in some third world countries are manifestly worse than anything that we see in Scotland. Let us not fool ourselves.

I would like to go from that point towards where Alex Johnstone came in. I think that he said that he was brought up with the idea that the Tory approach is that everybody should have equal opportunity. I think that he missed the point, which others have made, that opportunity is defined in the womb. Actually, a person's opportunity depends on the family in which they will be brought up and, to some extent, the genetics with which they will be brought up. The same opportunity outside is irrelevant if a person has had in-built inopportunities created for them. I think that that is where the Tories and I will disagree, because they will tell me-it is a thought process-that if everybody is given the same theoretical opportunities out here, they are all equally available. The reality is that poverty is its own barrier, which is why I started there.

We are not talking about some of the enormous inequalities and the extreme poverty that we might see elsewhere, but we can find down our street—I can find in my constituency and I bet that everybody else can find in their constituencies— people whose lack of income completely prevents them from taking some of the opportunities that the Tories and others will insist on telling them exist.

That is the point that we should really start from. We need to understand that until we address the circumstances in which a child is born, we will not make any serious inroads into reducing the inequalities that are manifest in our society. I said that because it is important that it is said. The Government knows that. I am looking at Alex Neil as I say this. He knows fine well that that is the situation, and I know that the Government is working on that.

My script will be completely ignored here. Ken Macintosh said that he is concerned that health policy will not address health inequalities. That is roughly what he talked about. Of course we will not address health inequalities by health policy if the child started in such poverty that those health inequalities and problems are in-built. They will not be addressed in the early years of life because of the parental situation and the poverty in which the child is being brought up. We can do nothing about the genetics of childbirth, of course; we will get anywhere near the issue only if we get back to the absolutely fundamental issue, which is pretty much the day on which the child is born or-come to think of it-the day on which the mother expects to bring the child into the world, because one of the first things that we know is that the child should be breastfed. We have to go back to the time before the child was born to get it right.

Ken Macintosh: Will the member take an intervention?

The Deputy Presiding Officer: The member is in his last minute.

Nigel Don: I am happy to take an intervention.

Ken Macintosh: Does the member agree that his point is not entirely true? With regard to widening inequality, in recent years, the life expectancy of the most prosperous women in Scotland has expanded, and the least prosperous women in Scotland are now dying sooner than the most prosperous are. That has happened in the past 10 years.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: You have 20 seconds remaining, Mr Don.

Nigel Don: I was not expecting even that much. I will stick to my fundamental point, which is that a child's expectations and prospects in life are defined first by where and when they are born, and who they are born to, and, secondly, by the educational position and social status of their parents, which means that unless we improve those we are not going to crack this issue.

15:55

Margaret McDougall (West Scotland) (Lab): Tackling inequalities is a huge topic, which includes health, barriers to work, childcare, digital exclusion, education, housing and welfare, to name but a few issues. I am going to focus my speech on health inequalities across Scotland, which is a particularly important issue in North Ayrshire, which I represent and is where I live.

Health inequality in Scotland is a complex and growing issue. For example, life expectancy in the most deprived areas in Scotland is 70.1 years for men and 76.8 years for women—

Chic Brodie (South Scotland) (SNP): Will the member give way?

Margaret McDougall: Let me get started?

However, in the most affluent areas, life expectancy is 82.4 years for men and 84.8 years for women.

In North Ayrshire, the difference between the most deprived area, which is Fullarton in Irvine, and the most affluent area, which is Whitehirst Park in Kilwinning, is stark at 24.7 years. The distance between Whitehurst Park and Fullarton is roughly 5 miles, but the difference in life expectancy is almost 25 years. I am sure that everyone in the chamber will agree that that is shocking and that the situation is totally unacceptable.

The reasons for that difference include many factors—among them poverty levels, unemployment and people's socioeconomic status.

Chic Brodie: On socioeconomic status, last week Labour MPs voted for a welfare cap that locked in the Tory cuts that we know will push 100,000 children into poverty by 2020. How will that affect health inequalities?

Margaret McDougall: SNP members keep talking about what Labour did last week, but we are talking about what is happening today, here in Scotland. They are talking about what Labour did in Westminster; we are talking about what we are doing in Scotland.

According to the Health and Social Care Alliance Scotland briefing, those who live in deprived areas have higher rates of heart disease, obesity, diabetes and problems with drugs and alcohol abuse. It is clear that health inequalities do not stand alone. They are caused, in part, by the socioeconomic inequalities that exist in our society—[*Interruption*.]

The Deputy Presiding Officer: I would be grateful if members on the front benches could exchange their views in debate.

Margaret McDougall: In my view, it is our job as elected representatives to eradicate the inequalities that exist in Scotland. This is an issue of human rights and human dignity. To take effective action, we need better collaboration between services in the public and third sectors, promotion of early years intervention and preventative measures, as well as the adoption of evidence-based decision making.

Health professionals, councils, community planning partnerships, the third sector and the Scottish and UK Governments must work together to tackle these issues effectively. An integrated approach is vital to success. In that respect, I welcome the early years collaborative, which is a coalition of community planning partners that aims to deliver tangible improvement in outcomes and to reduce inequalities for Scotland's vulnerable children, as well as to shift the public services towards early intervention and prevention by 2016. When he sums up the debate, could the cabinet secretary update Parliament on the progress of that initiative and on the difference that it is making at grass-root level?

According to NHS Scotland, adopting early years approaches and preventative measures can be a cost-effective way of tackling the economic, social and environmental causes of health inequalities, and those approaches are better at reducing inequalities than downstream measures such as treating illness. Therefore, adopting holistic person-centred approaches is key to changing behaviours, which in turn reduces health inequalities.

We need an evidence-based policy. For example, the recent NHS Scotland report, "Informing investment to reduce health inequalities (III) in Scotland: a commentary" found that the introduction of the living wage, which the Scottish Government blocked through the Procurement Reform (Scotland) Act 2014, generated the largest beneficial impact on health as well as a modest reduction in health inequalities.

We cannot treat health inequalities as a standalone issue. They are complex and tie in to employment, poverty levels and socioeconomic backgrounds, as well as other individual factors. To tackle them, we need collaboration between all services and a focus on early intervention, prevention and changing behaviours. We need to ensure that the most deprived areas in society get the support that they need through a commitment to the living wage in order that we can start to close the gap between the richest and the poorest.

The Scottish Government could do much more with the powers that it already has, not to mention the ones that it will get under the Smith agreement. It is time for it to step up to the plate and to be serious about eradicating inequality in Scotland.

16:01

George Adam (Paisley) (SNP): I am only too aware of the inequality in my constituency. Like many, I believe that equality and cohesion are good for growth as well as individuals and their families. It is therefore welcome that the Scottish Government's programme for government focuses on creating a stronger economy and a fairer society. Most of civic Scotland and business organisations have welcomed that.

It is important to keep that balance to ensure that we have a stronger and fairer economy and society. However, as many of my colleagues have mentioned, we do not live in a fair society, because the wealthiest 1 per cent will soon own more than the rest of the world's population own, according to a study by anti-poverty charity Oxfam, which expects the wealthiest 1 per cent to own 50 per cent of the world's wealth by 2016.

Kevin Stewart and Ken Macintosh mentioned Oxfam's seven-point plan on inequality. The Scottish Government has the power to do something about only one of the seven points in that plan; the other six are entirely at Westminster's behest. We are dealing with that issue at the moment.

Ken Macintosh: Gordon MacDonald and Nigel Don also raised that issue. Can the Scottish Government take any actions that will have an impact on reducing inequality?

George Adam: That is a rather silly question. The Government is already undertaking a host of initiatives. The problem is the limitations in the devolved settlement. As we examine what comes out of the Smith commission, we have to ensure that the Government gets the powers that it needs to make a difference fully. As I said, out of the seven points that Oxfam mentions, only one is within the Scottish Government's power. How can we allow that to continue to be the case?

It is no coincidence that the UK Cabinet is full of millionaires. We have a Prime Minister and a chancellor who have personal fortunes of about £4 million but are driving forward policies that target the worst-off in society. I challenge anyone in the UK Government to live in my constituency, receive only hardship payments after having been sanctioned and rely on food banks. I wonder how

long they would then think about their welfare reforms. They would look at those reforms from an entirely different perspective.

Most people are not on benefits or living in poverty through choice, just as Mr Cameron and Mr Osborne were not born into privilege through choice. In Scotland, we believe in the getting it right for every child—GIRFEC—principle. No matter where somebody is born in Scotland, they should have the same chances to succeed in life as anyone else and be provided with support and opportunities to ensure that they can achieve all that they can.

The Scottish Government has achieved so much. The opportunities for all initiative will continue to guarantee young people between the ages of 16 and 19 a training or education opportunity—the SNP Government was the first in Scotland to take that action—and the Scottish Government will continue to deliver 25,000 modern apprenticeships per year.

Fee-free higher education for Scottish students ensures that access to university education is based not on the ability to pay but on the ability to learn. Meanwhile, students in England pay fees of up to £9,000 per year. The Scottish Government is protecting the education maintenance allowance for 16 to 19-year-olds and providing record funding for support that is paid to college students. We are working towards a minimum income of £7,000 for the most vulnerable university students. That shows that the Scottish Government has done what it can to help in education.

However, Westminster austerity is making things worse in Scotland. According to the Equality Trust analysis, the UK is the fourth most unequal country in the OECD. The Child Poverty Action Group has estimated that 100,000 more children will be living in poverty in Scotland by 2020 as a direct result of UK Government tax and benefit policies. We have to deal with those issues because our constituents expect us to deal with them.

Families who have access to benefits are only too aware of the dark austerity clouds of the Westminster establishment. Only last week, the Labour Party backed its friends in the Conservative Party on austerity. People in Scotland are now aware of the political games that Labour and the Conservatives play while they are in Westminster. Families in Scotland will be hit by a £6 billion benefit cut in the five years from 2015-16. With nearly 70 per cent of welfare cuts to Scotland still to come, we have not heard the end of that yet.

The Scottish Government mitigates when it can, but why should it have to fix problems that

Westminster created? We should be working together to deliver for all our constituents.

When the Labour MPs backed their Tory colleagues on austerity, they left Scotland behind. They left behind 105,000 disabled people, who will each lose at least £1,120 per year because of Westminster welfare cuts, and they left behind the individuals who will be moved from the disability living allowance to the personal independence payment. Disability benefit expenditure in Scotland will be cut by about £310 million. They left all those individuals behind.

When we discuss this issue, we have to look to the future for our people—for the people of Scotland—in order to provide for them, rather than sitting here and continuing to play the typical games that Westminster has played for far too long. Now, thankfully, the Scottish public have become wise to that and are beginning to see that neither of the UK parties has any idea of what it will do in the future.

16:08

Roderick Campbell (North East Fife) (SNP): Ken Macintosh and George Adam have referred to the Oxfam publication on inequality in the world. The timing of its publication has obviously coincided with the economic summit in that model of equality, Davos in Switzerland.

Nobody should underestimate the extent of the task of tackling inequality or the difficulties that lie in building a more equal society, and nor, as the Health and Sport Committee report makes clear, should we forget that inequalities in one area of life are likely to be closely connected with inequalities elsewhere. Christine Grahame has talked interestingly about the impact of inequality on the prison system. Similarly, we must recognise that changes in the approach to public spending may exacerbate the problem of inequality.

While I accept that it may be simplistic to suggest that, for example, the increasing use of food banks is directly connected to welfare reform and the use of sanctions in the welfare system, I think that the very growth of food banks at least reflects the increasing number of people who are falling through the net.

We have heard much about the growing number of Scottish households that are suffering from changes to benefits or from benefits sanctions or that are on low incomes and require assistance from the Trussell Trust and other food banks. For the almost 10,500 people who received assistance from the Trussell Trust in December, the phrase, "We're all in this together," will have a hollow ring.

I commend the Health and Sport Committee for the clarity of its report. It begins by referring to the well-known contrast between life expectancy in Lenzie and that in Calton in Glasgow's east end. It reminds us that, despite devolution, health inequalities remain persistent and widespread. Many members have referred to comments from Harry Burns and in particular his stark comment that a large part of the population has failed to improve its health at the same rate as the more affluent part of the population has.

I found particularly revealing the fact that public health campaigns on alcohol, tobacco, diet and exercise have had little or no impact on health inequalities. That fact is reinforced by the briefing from ASH Scotland, which refers to the Scottish household survey's findings that the smoking rate in Scotland's poorest areas was 36 per cent, in comparison with 10 per cent in the wealthiest communities, and that, although the rate had dropped generally, the gap between rich and poor had not closed significantly. That means that there were proportionately more deaths from smoking in poorer areas-and, of course, smoking cuts the amount of money that is available to low-income families. lf smoking rates were reduced accordingly, spending power to purchase other items would increase. That information suggests that public health campaigns need to be better focused, and we should be prepared to make a disproportionate effort to reduce that differential.

In 2014, it was estimated that 427,000 people— 18.4 per cent of the workforce—earned less than the living wage. The trend is particularly prevalent among women, with more than one in five women—as against 14 per cent of men—earning less than the living wage in 2014. The continued promotion of the living wage must remain a priority for the Government.

Health inequalities are complex, according to Sir Harry Burns, but there seems to be a consensus that factors such as having a job—preferably one that pays well, having a good income and being well educated all help, and that being poor, unemployed and in bad housing do not.

Looking at the picture on jobs, I was struck by the statistics that the Scottish Government published in July 2014 in its document "Poverty and Income Inequality in Scotland: 2012/13". In particular, I note the conclusion, to which many members have referred, that 52 per cent of working-age adults on a low income, and 59 per cent of children, were living in households where at least one adult was in employment. That indicates that having a job does not in itself cure poverty.

As the commentary on page 7 suggests, relative poverty increased in 2012-13, which reflected a number of changes, "such as: changes in the labour market and employment patterns, continued welfare reform (such as tightening of eligibility for tax credits for couples in employment and freezing of some elements of benefits and tax credits) increases in the personal tax allowance and decreases in average earned income in the latest year. These factors have a varying impact on the rate of poverty with some, such as increasing the personal tax allowance, mitigating the impact of others. The net effect, however, is an increase in relative poverty."

There we have it: increasing the personal allowance is not quite the big leap forward that the Lib Dems have suggested; it simply lessens the damage. As Kevin Stewart has mentioned, many commentators have queried the policy's benefit.

The report makes it clear that, over the past decade, the relative poverty figure decreased from 20 per cent to 14 per cent in 2011-12 before rising again. Importantly, the decreases in 2010-11 and 2011-12 were largely attributed to falling median incomes rather than to any material improvement in people's lives.

For children, the picture of a fall in child poverty has been reversed. The number of working households with children and in receipt of working tax credits has fallen as a result of tightened eligibility rules and conditions under welfare reform. We are now going backwards.

For pensioners, basic state pension income has increased faster than earnings for working-age households and faster than other benefits and tax credit income, so pensioners' income has been protected. Overall, they are not doing as badly as some.

For the disabled, as Inclusion Scotland's briefing makes clear, the welfare cuts have had a disproportionate effect on the disabled people in our community.

Amid all that, median household income is declining. For a small cohort of individuals at the top, things have been getting better. For most others, austerity rules. It is clearly better to make progress on inequality when the economy is growing. Despite comments to the contrary by the UK Government, the UK's national debt is growing, with public borrowing growing year on year and successive years of triple-digit billionpound deficits. Even the Prime Minister is warning of a legacy of debt, which I am certain will be one of many epithets that are deployed about his time in office.

The solution cannot be simply to cut public spending more, although that is what the Tories, and now Labour, appear to believe. We must not embrace austerity.

16:15

Cara Hilton (Dunfermline) (Lab): In Scotland and across the world, inequality is on the up as the gap between rich and poor continues to rise. Oxfam Scotland calculates that the richest three families in Scotland have the same wealth as the poorest 20 per cent combined. It also says that the richest 10 per cent of families have 900 times more wealth than the poorest 10 per cent. The pay gap is so vast that it would take the average worker 158 years to earn what a FTSE 100 chief executive officer makes in just one year. However, while those at the top have seen their income and wealth spiral in recent years, the average Scot is working harder than ever and still struggles to make ends meet.

The cabinet secretary referred to the recent Joseph Rowntree Foundation report that reveals that, across the UK, 8.1 million parents and children are living on incomes below what is needed to cover a minimum household budget. Some of those workers are Scottish Government staff. I highlight a Public and Commercial Services Union survey that has been emailed to us today, which reveals that 40 per cent of PCS members in Scotland do not have enough money to provide for their families.

Many Scots are working in two or even three jobs and thousands of them are forced to get by just on the minimum wage. They often have no choice but to accept zero-hours or short-hours contracts, with hours and pay changing from week to week, flexibility dictated by the interests of the employer and rarely by the needs of the employee, and little, if any, job security.

At a time when the cost of living continues to rise, families on low and average incomes are struggling due to pay freezes and Tory cuts to tax credits and child benefit. Mums are forced to turn to payday lenders, ending up in a cycle of debt from which there is no escape. Every day, too many families in Scotland and across the UK are making the choice between keeping warm and putting food on the table.

A Save the Children survey found that 61 per cent of parents in poverty have cut back on food, with the poorest children missing out on things that other children take for granted, such as a warm coat or going on school trips with their classmates. Despite the fact that the UK is one of the wealthiest countries in the world, at least one in five children grows up in poverty and many more children live in families that struggle to get by week to week. Save the Children forecasts that, by 2020, a staggering one in three children could be in poverty.

The real scandal is that two thirds of children in poverty have mums, dads or carers who are in

work but on poverty pay—hard-working families who have been pushed further and further into financial difficulty. They are unable to make ends meet because they are not being paid a living wage. Tackling in-work poverty must be an absolute priority. The Scottish Government is doing a lot on that but it needs to do more. That is why Scottish Labour's amendment calls for more concerted action to ensure that every worker in Scotland on a public contract is paid a living wage.

It is disappointing that, in many areas where the Scottish Parliament has responsibility, inequality is widening, not narrowing. One of the key factors in that continuing inequality is our education system, which, too often, entrenches disadvantage and inequalities.

I know that, across the chamber, we share concerns that the life chances of too many children in Scotland continue to be determined by the lottery of birth—where they are born and who their parents are—rather than by a child's efforts at school or their talents. The gap in the attainment levels of children from the richest and poorest households in Scotland begins early in a child's life and continues and widens throughout their school years. The gap persists when our children leave school and move on to the labour market, or into college or university. It impacts, too, on earning potential and opportunities in adulthood.

By the age of three, children from deprived backgrounds are already nine months behind in average development and readiness for school. By the age of six, low-achieving children from better-off homes start to outperform initially higher achieving children from poorer families. By the age of 11, one in five children from poorer families are not reading well, compared with one in 10 of all children and just one in 20 children from the least deprived areas. Growing up in poverty shapes and impacts on every aspect of a child's life.

We all know that no child can achieve their full potential when they turn up at school hungry, when they are living in cold, damp, overcrowded housing, when they are stressed and anxious, and when their parents see little prospect of escape from the situation.

Education should be a route out of poverty. It should enable every child to reach their full potential. However, the reality is that thousands of children in our communities across Scotland continue to be caught up in a cycle of disadvantage from which there is little prospect of escape. The gap between rich and poor means that our education system, rather than unlocking potential, often simply reinforces and reproduces inequality. Our education system simply does not work well enough for the most vulnerable children in Scotland, and our attainment gap continues to be wider than that in similar countries across the world.

The Education and Culture Committee is looking at the issue. That is welcome, but it is time for the Scottish Government to do more now with the powers that it already has to tackle the deeprooted inequality in our schools and ensure that no child is left behind. It is time to spend less time talking about creating an equal society and more time working to deliver one.

The Scottish Parliament already has the power to tackle inequality. I hope that, across the political divide, we can work to get it right for Scotland's children, because that is far more important than scoring political points. There is plenty of good practice out there. I encourage the Government to look at the steps that local authorities such as Fife Council are taking to tackle the cycle of disadvantage.

One of the most important ways that we can address educational inequality is by ensuring that every child can read well. I commend the excellent "Read On. Get On" initiative, which is aimed at ensuring that every child in Scotland is reading well by age 11. I hope that we can all get behind that campaign. Ensuring that all children are reading well would be a huge step towards a fairer and more equal Scotland in which no child is left behind, in which every child has the opportunity and support to fulfil their potential and in which we ensure that Scotland really is the best place to grow up for every child.

Nelson Mandela said:

"Education is the most powerful weapon which you can use to change the world."

Those were wise words but, unless we address the inequalities in Scotland's education system, for too many children in too many of our communities, education will continue to close doors rather than open them.

16:21

Beattie (Midlothian North Colin and Musselburgh) (SNP): In whatever guise inequality rears its head, it is one of the most pressing issues that faces our society today. A report that was released just yesterday by Oxfam indicates that, by 2016, 1 per cent of the world's population will own more wealth than the other 99 per cent. That situation is not only entirely undesirable but, frankly, quite unsustainable. I am sure that we all agree that strong economies are underpinned by fair and equitable societies yet, in a global context, we see a continuation of the exact reverse. Oxfam's studies show that 3.5 billion people own the same wealth as just 80 people. As recently as 2010, the comparable figure was 388 people.

In the UK context, research by the Equality Trust shows that the richest 100 families have increased their wealth by at least £15 billion since 2008 whereas, in the same timeframe, the average income rose by a mere £1,233. In fact, the research shows that the current richest 100 families own the same wealth as 30 per cent of UK households, which is a sure indicator, if any was required, that Westminster's austerity measures are doing nothing but making the rich richer and the poor poorer. One concern with such inequality is that the rich continue to strengthen their grasp on power while ordinary people are left with a diminished voice.

As just one example of the methods by which wealth becomes unfairly distributed, the Oxfam report highlights tax avoidance as a major cause for concern. Anders Dahlbeck, a tax policy adviser at ActionAid, estimates that poor nations lose about three times as much to tax havens as they receive in aid. We in the UK are no strangers to tax avoidance schemes, given the recent headline-grabbing stories featuring pop stars, comedians and huge multinational corporations.

The debate allows us to highlight the issues surrounding inequality in a Scottish context. For all Westminster's talk of improving the lives of the average hard-working person, it is actually doing the opposite. Indeed, last week's vote to implement £30 billion of cuts clearly displays that the situation will not improve any time soon.

A feature of our times has been the rise of food banks. The Trussell Trust estimates that 13 million people live below the poverty line, which is a scandalous figure in a country such as the UK. In 2013-14, food banks fed 913,138 people across the nation, of whom 330,205 were children. I recently took the opportunity to visit the East Lothian Foodbank and see its work at first hand. I applaud the volunteers who staff food banks up and down the country. I am sure that all members sincerely appreciate the great work that they do but, in this day and age, there should be no need for food banks in the first place.

In these trying circumstances, the Scottish Government is taking positive measures to combat inequality. As a start, the fact that the Government is paying the living wage as part of its pay policy is a clear sign that it is fighting the scourge of poverty from the ground up. What better way can there be to help people than ensuring that they have sufficient money to live a decent quality of life? I sincerely hope that many organisations follow in the Government's footsteps on that, especially given our support for living wage accreditation. In the future every relevant Government contract will stipulate payment of the living wage as a priority. Let us not forget that the Scottish Government will ensure that NHS staff continue to receive at least a modest pay increase. Compare that with England, where NHS staff have been badly let down by Westminster. Nursing staff in Scotland could be up to £714 better off annually than staff south of the border.

It is necessary to examine where the Scottish Government is providing support in an educational context. We know how important education is to providing our young people with a head start in life and ensuring that, whatever their background, they have the same opportunity to make the most of their lives as anyone else. I need not remind the chamber that this Government is committed to feefree higher education, in comparison with the situation south of the border, where students face fees of up to £9,000. Surely we would all agree that if we place a price on education, only those who can afford it will benefit, which thus perpetuates the cycle of inequality.

Ken Macintosh: Does Colin Beattie not share my concern that, despite the different fee arrangements north and south of the border, more people from an underprivileged background are able to access higher education in England than in Scotland?

Colin Beattie: I have not seen figures that validate that and I would challenge that statement.

In separate measures, this Government aims to provide a minimum income of £7,000 to our most vulnerable university students. Westminster has chosen to scrap the education maintenance allowance that provides funding to 16 to 19-yearolds, whereas we in Scotland have kept that vital source of support. Access to universities has been widened under this Government through the access agreements that were introduced by the Post-16 Education (Scotland) Act 2013.

The results speak for themselves. Our unemployment rate is the lowest of the four UK nations and our employment rate is the highest. Our female employment rate is now at the highest level ever recorded. The council tax freeze alone will save the average band D taxpayer around £1,682 by 2016-17. Our abolition of prescription charges ensures that more money stays in the pockets of ordinary people, compared with the situation south of the border. We are committed to providing free personal and nursing care for our old people, and let us not forget our recent implementation of free school meals for all children in primary 1 to primary 3.

By the end of this year, the UK economy is predicted to be 4 per cent smaller than was expected in 2010. If ever there was a sign that the austerity measures are not working, that is it. Borrowing in 2015 is expected to be £50 billion higher than was anticipated in 2010, which is largely due to real wages being subdued.

I support the SNP Government's strong commitment to reducing societal inequality, despite the strength of opposition that we face. It is true that we will receive new welfare powers as a result of the Smith commission, which I warmly welcome, but let us be in no doubt—the powers will amount to only 15 per cent of the welfare powers available and will leave the vast majority in the hands of Westminster. It appears to me, and I hope to the Scottish people, that our only solution to end the constant undermining of our efforts to reduce inequality and finally rid ourselves of the damaging austerity agenda is an SNP vote in the coming general election.

16:28

Willie Rennie: I will start with some praise for two of the members whom I might gently call the old stagers, their having been here since 1999: Duncan McNeil and Christine Grahame both made excellent contributions that were thoughtful and quite critical of the Parliament and the two Governments that they and we represented. They reflected the huge challenge that we face in tackling inequality: the fact that it is long-standing embedded and has blighted and many communities for generations. Their speeches were great contributions to the debate.

Nigel Don's and Rhoda Grant's contributions were very good as well. They reflected on the interconnected nature of poverty and inequality: the connection, which Christine Grahame also made, between poverty, drink, drugs and prisona vicious cycle that is very difficult to break. I have only one slight criticism for Nigel Don. He tended a little towards pessimism. I like to believe that we can overcome these huge challenges. Even if they have been long-standing problems, I think that we can overcome them. I know that he started talking about breastfeeding and so on, but I thought that he tended towards pessimism. I am happy if Nigel Don wants to intervene to correct my interpretation.

Nigel Don: I am grateful for the mention in dispatches. I am completely optimistic about this, because I think we know what we need to do—but we need the political will to do it.

Willie Rennie: I am glad, because I think it is important that we have an optimistic view in this Parliament that we can overcome these huge challenges. I know that we all have different views about how we can do that, but it is one of the biggest tests for this Parliament. To be frank, so far the Parliament has not really succeeded in making a sufficient dent in overcoming those challenges. I was delighted that Margaret McCulloch talked about Suzanne Zeedyk, who has one of the answers—she has talked about communities, families, attachment theory and the fact that too often because of the direction of child protection in society we push children even further away, rather than bringing them closer to us to give them support and encouragement and the emotional intelligence that they require. Suzanne Zeedyk believes that it not just about improving the quantity of childcare—although she believes that that should be increased—but that providing quality childcare is essential to make a big difference and break the vicious cycle that Duncan McNeil and Christine Grahame talked about.

There are other contrasts in this debate. Like a stuck record, we went back to the old argument that we can achieve more things only by having more powers in this Parliament. Duncan McNeil was right that we cannot solve this problem simply by having more money and more powers, but some members seem to be stuck in that argument.

Members will remember that I pointed out in previous debates that, despite the rhetoric of the SNP, it was not promising that one extra penny would be spent on welfare. In its white paper, it was very clear that it would spend exactly the same as lain Duncan Smith was planning to spend on welfare in 2016-17—not one extra penny. We all understand that there are difficult choices, but the rhetoric needs to match the actions if the SNP's words are to be believed.

We have heard lots of lambasting of the UK Government and the Labour Party on austerity today, but the Scottish Fiscal Commission is clear: it said that, in order to create the oil fund that the SNP wanted to create, the commission would support a downward trajectory on spending and deficit reduction. That means austerity to everybody else in the chamber.

Mike MacKenzie (Highlands and Islands) (SNP): Will the member take an intervention?

Willie Rennie: Not just now.

The reality is that, on austerity as well, the rhetoric is strong but the reality is somewhat different. We have heard about £6 billion cuts on welfare, but the SNP has not promised one penny more. We have heard condemnation of austerity, but the SNP is promising nothing more.

Then there was criticism of the Smith commission, apart from in Colin Beattie's speech, as he said that he warmly welcomed the new powers on welfare. That was a great, refreshing contribution to the debate, because so many others have derided the Smith commission before the legislation is even published later this week. We will create, for the first time, a £3 billion Scottish welfare system. We will be able to test the rhetoric against the actions, to see whether we do get the changes in policy that the SNP has said that it wants to deliver and whether it finds the money to pay for that—these things all cost money.

We had a contrast in the debate: the contrast between the great, thoughtful contributions of the members who I have already talked about and the rather depressing contributions on welfare, austerity and more powers.

Let us return to the central point. I have Kevin Stewart to thank because we now have clarity that the SNP is opposed to the £800 tax cut that the UK Government has introduced. He condemned it. In fact, Rod Campbell condemned it as well. We can only conclude from that that those members were opposed to it and that they would not have introduced the cut to tax that the UK Government has introduced.

Kevin Stewart: Will the member give way?

Willie Rennie: Not just now.

That cut has helped low and middle-income earners by £800 a year, which is a significant benefit to people who are struggling to make ends meet.

We also need to see a greater contribution and a greater effort from the Scottish Government to increase childcare in the same way as the UK Government has done down south. Members should also remember that the national minimum wage is being increased, so there is an extra £355 in the pocket of a full-time worker on the minimum wage. Since the UK Government came to power, 168,000 jobs have been created.

Those are all significant benefits, but none of them was praised by members on the SNP benches. In order to create the fairness that we are trying to generate within society, we need that stronger economy.

I want to finish where Ken Macintosh started off.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: You have 20 seconds.

Willie Rennie: He talked about the international challenge. It is worth reflecting that this country is managing to meet the United Nations obligation—the 0.7 per cent of GDP. Every member in the chamber should be proud of the fact that we are contributing to challenging poverty right across the globe.

16:35

Annabel Goldie (West Scotland) (Con): This has been a contrasting debate of many shades of opinion—some predictable, yet some unexpected

and perhaps from unexpected parts of the chamber.

I want to set the backdrop. We are emerging stronger from one of the most significant economic downturns of modern times and the most challenging financial period in 60 years. There are still huge challenges, but today we have a growing economy that is delivering growing employment created from skilled, good quality, full-time jobs. As the minister said, youth unemployment is at a five-year low, and we have rising wages and controlled inflation. That is a solid basis on which to approach the testing and perplexing issue of inequalities.

With the increased income tax personal allowance, people are keeping more of their earnings. That is a tax cut for 2.3 million people in Scotland and it takes 242,000 low-paid workers out of paying income tax altogether. I want to see those numbers increase, as they will from April this year, and go beyond that.

These policies of aspiration and opportunity are how we address inequality. They are in sharp contrast with the Scottish Government's relentless focus on the paradox that Willie Rennie rightly identified. On the one hand, the Scottish Government indicates in word that it wants a higher, unquantified and apparently uncontrolled spend on welfare, but, as Willie Rennie says, that is never borne out by a specific spend commitment anywhere, such as in its prereferendum documentation its welfare or commission report. To say that

"there has been very little change in income inequality since 1998"

jars with the speeches of many members today, particularly from the Government benches, but that is a direct quote from the Scottish Government's most recent "Poverty and Income Inequality in Scotland" publication.

Christine Grahame and Duncan McNeil thoughtfully reflected on the long-standing, enduring nature of inequalities, their diverse form and their complexity. I felt that there was an honesty in doing that and recognising that there is no silver bullet. Economic inequality trends are increasingly global, but Scotland has seen less of an increase in economic inequality than other countries. The Institute for Fiscal Studies has acknowledged that

"most industrialised countries saw increases in inequality between the mid 1980s and the late 2000s".

The Government's motion also mentions

"£6 billion of welfare cuts"-

a figure produced, perhaps inevitably and predictably, by the Scottish Government's analysis after the most recent budget in July 2014.

However, its welfare paper, from where that figure originates, admits that by a considerable margin the biggest saving was made by the changing of the method of benefits uprating from the retail prices index to the consumer prices index. The Scottish Government's motion is particularly bizarre given that the Scottish Government's prereferendum welfare report supported the use of the consumer prices index rather than the retail prices index.

Another large saving that was identified by the Scottish Government's analysis was from changes to child benefit entitlement. That was a tapered reduction for families where one person has an income of more than £50,000, reducing to zero child benefit for earners over £60,000. I do not recall the SNP campaigning on a platform of restoring child benefit for some of the top earners in our country. I would be interested to hear what it believes the impact of that "cut" has been on inequality.

In combination, those two areas account for more than half of the £6 billion figure. The SNP has not lifted a finger to oppose those savings, and that is true of a number of other changes that fall under the umbrella of welfare reform.

My colleague Mr Johnstone's amendment also touches on the conclusion of last week's Finance Committee report. The Parliament voted for £500 million to make a real shift towards preventative spend, which is a good thing, in order to support a transition across public services away from dealing with symptoms of disadvantage and inequality, and towards tackling the root causes, something that we all approve of. Despite that, however, the Finance Committee concluded that the project across the three change funds has produced a "lack of measurable outcomes" and it has expressed "concerns" over a lack of progress.

Therefore, where the Scottish Government has real powers to end inequalities in education and health, to which Christina McKelvie referred, we see a great deal of talk but little achievement. Mr Macintosh rightly referred to education, where we have lost 140,000 college places in Scotland. Further education colleges are a vital component of building vocational skills and allowing people to return to education to prepare them for the workplace. In accessing university in Scotland, the most disadvantaged are now the most excluded and England is doing better than we are in that regard. In health, we have seen not only the problems with the change funds but a real-terms cut to the health budget while the same budget in England is growing.

That is just a reality check, and I know from the murmurs that it does not suit members on the Government benches to hear those observations. I do welcome the Scottish Government's conclusion that work should be a route out of poverty, and Mr Neil and I agree on that priority. However, the Scottish Government seems to have failed to address opportunity in terms of the opportunities presented by job creation and provided by education and skills, and the opportunity for intervention by the NHS, such as using health visitors and improving health education. Those are issues that are controlled by this Parliament and they directly affect constituents, to whom Margaret McCulloch referred. I have to say that I thought Roderick Campbell made an eloquent plea for those devolved issues, such as health education, to have much more focused attention.

The Scottish Government has become a ritual critic of the United Kingdom Government—indeed, that is the Scottish Government's default position whenever it is confronted by any challenge—but the reality is an inert, passive Scottish Government, blind to opportunity and failing across a whole range of devolved issues for which it has been responsible for the past eight years. The Scottish Government should take a long, hard, collective look in the mirror and start finding answers.

I support the amendment in Alex Johnstone's name.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: I call Neil Findlay—eight minutes or thereby.

16:42

Neil Findlay (Lothian) (Lab): Thanks, Presiding Officer; I am going to give you a recipe, not for a nice cake or dish, but something cooked up by the world's economic gurus over the past 30 or so years. It is a recipe that has created an economic system by which wealth and power are transferred to, accumulated and then hoarded by a small, rich, powerful elite, while at the same time the mass of people have seen their power, wealth and influence stolen from them.

That system of neoliberal economics is a theory and ideology—and, some might say, a religion that exists to create inequality; that is its purpose. It is a system in which the market is king, in which competition decides everything and in which global markets are opened up to so-called free trade and only the fittest survive. Of course, Thatcher and Reagan, who were no doubt heroes of Mr Johnstone—I see him nodding in agreement, which is no surprise—were the greatest disciples of this philosophy

Kevin Stewart: Will Mr Findlay give way?

Neil Findlay: Not just now.

They were true believers in the market's ability to answer every problem, irrespective of the consequences. In the UK, the Thatcher Government withdrew state subsidy from the car, steel and shipbuilding industries and others, preferring to see people parked on unemployment benefit or incapacity benefit and communities destroyed, rather than the state interfere with her beloved market.

She created a narrative that said that wealth accumulation was how success was measured, and that individualism and materialism were good and collectivism and communitarianism were bad. Unemployment became a method of social control, setting worker against worker in a competition for new, low-paid, deregulated, semiskilled and unskilled service sector work. Home ownership was promoted as the barometer of personal success. Council housing was sold off at discount and people were encouraged to take on mortgages at four, five or six times their salary, then to use credit cards and loans to finance their lifestyles.

The move from being paid weekly to being paid monthly left many people needing a regular overdraft or exorbitant payday loans to get them to the end of the month. That, along with mass unemployment and a systematic crackdown on organised labour, ensured that nothing stood in the way of the Conservatives' project. Low-paid home owners who were up to their ears in debt and who feared for their jobs at a time of mass unemployment would not go on strike to defend their jobs and conditions, and those who promoted and created the system knew it.

Our public assets were flogged off to the deregulated City and people made fortunes out of the gas, electricity and telecoms industries that were once ours. All the while, rich individuals, hedge funds and finance houses grew fatter and fatter on the spoils as corporate power milked that approach for all that it was worth.

I say that not to give anyone a history lesson we all know the story, but today's debate must be understood in that context. I agree that having a sustainable and secure economy is vital for the wellbeing of society, but what is essential in the debate is that the political will is shown to ensure that the benefits of our economy will be shared more equitably and progressively among all our people, not just those at the top.

Kevin Stewart: Mr Findlay has given us a wee history lesson, but it is a bit like "Nineteen Eighty-Four" in its rewriting of history, because he forgets the neo-liberal agenda of Blairism. Neo-liberalism was entrenched in Blairism, was it not?

Neil Findlay: I did not forget about that, because I was one of that agenda's biggest critics. The fact that I am prepared to say so indicates the difference between me and Mr Stewart. When my party gets things wrong, I am willing to say so.
None of the sheep on the SNP benches is ever willing to do so—look at them. [*Interruption*.]

I welcome some of the speeches that we heard. I thought that Christine Grahame's speech was excellent; many of the issues that she raised in relation to prisoners could also be raised in relation to young people who leave care. I thought that Rhoda Grant made an excellent speech on health inequalities. Duncan McNeil's speech was one of the best that I have heard in the Parliament, and I do not give him many compliments, as I am sure that he will agree—only joking, Duncan. His speech was a challenge to each and every one of us, and I think that we should hear more speeches like it in the Parliament. I also commend Cara Hilton for her comments on education.

Those were serious speeches, but we also had knockabout. Christina McKelvie asked what the most recent Labour Government did for working people and trade unions. Let me tell her. We introduced the minimum wage, brought in the social chapter, extended parental rights, increased compensation for unfair dismissal and established a legal right to trade union representation, and when we are elected in May we will take action on zero-hours contracts, low pay, agency workers, the quality of apprenticeships, blacklisting, bogus self-employment, pay differentials and many more issues on which the trade unions have called for action and have participated in our policy process in writing.

Christina McKelvie: After that big list of stuff that the Labour Party promised in its manifesto for the last election and did not deliver, perhaps Mr Findlay can tell us specifically which piece of trade union legislation that Margaret Thatcher brought in Tony Blair overturned? Did he overturn any of it?

Neil Findlay: If Ms McKelvie looks at her party's record, she will see that it did not promise to overturn any of that, either; perhaps she should look at her own party rather than criticise others.

Of course, Ken Macintosh was right to challenge the minister—who it appears did not know that the Parliament is to get taxation powers—on whether the SNP will implement a 50p top tax rate. Maybe Mr Neil, as an ex-socialist who once believed in redistribution, will be able to tell us. Maybe he will also be able to tell us whether the SNP believes in the bankers' bonus tax to fund the youth unemployment initiative or whether it supports the mansion tax to fund extra nurses in our NHS. I think that we know the answer to that—the answer is no. So much for the progressive policies of the SNP. Mind you, it was the back-bench member for Aberdeenshire East who said that he did not mind Thatcherite economics.

We have put forward three policies that would take money from the wealthy to create jobs and

put cash into the pockets of working people, and the SNP does not support any of them.

The SNP's main redistributive policy in recent years has been its policy to cut corporation taxes to a rate that is one of the lowest in the European Union.

That is why we are critical of and sceptical about the Scottish Government's rhetoric. Willie Rennie was right to point out that not an extra penny was promised in the white paper.

This week, the Scottish Government's own staff, who work in this building and outside it, will go on strike over low pay. I am glad that the culture secretary is here; a dispute has been going on in her directorate for more a year over the £3,000 in weekend allowance payments that has been taken off the lowest paid staff, and nothing has happened for a year. Only today, as Cara Hilton said, PCS highlighted that Scottish Government staff are relying on credit and food banks to get through the month.

We need a change of philosophy and approach across Government to tackle the issues.

16:51

The Cabinet Secretary for Social Justice, Communities and Pensioners' Rights (Alex Neil): First, let me say to Willie Rennie that although Roseanna Cunningham and I are members of the 1999 group we would not describe ourselves as "old stagers". Let me also say that Mr Findlay might call me an ex-socialist, but he is just ex as far as I am concerned.

The Government will not accept any of the amendments to the motion.

There is a degree of unanimity in the Parliament, in that I think that we agree that the level of poverty in Scotland—and elsewhere in the UK and the wider world—is totally unacceptable. Members mentioned the statistics for Scotland, including that 1 million people, or 19 per cent of the population, live in poverty, but something that no one mentioned is that 230,000 of those people are in severe poverty. Some 59 per cent of children in poverty are in a household in which someone is in work, and many members of our disabled community, which has suffered most in recent years, are living in poverty.

Ken Macintosh: Will the cabinet secretary give way?

Alex Neil: I will do in a minute.

Whether we are talking about measures of the gaps in educational attainment or life expectancy between the wealthier and poorer parts of our society, I hope that we all agree that it is unacceptable that the UK, which is the fifth or sixth

largest economy in the OECD, ranks fourth on level of poverty. It is totally unacceptable that an economy as rich as the UK has the fourth highest level of poverty of all the OECD countries.

Ken Macintosh: There has been broad agreement in the debate about the problem of inequality in this country and our desire to tackle it. Labour members are prepared to vote for the SNP motion; what is wrong with the Labour amendment that means that the SNP will not vote for it?

Alex Neil: A number of things are wrong with it. I will come on to that.

We must consider why poverty has got so much worse over the past few years. I must say to the Tories and the Liberal Democrats that they bear responsibility for that. There are four or five major contributing factors, which I will go into later.

It is easy to bandy about statistics and make points about various measures, but at the end of the day poverty is about human misery. I—like many members, I suspect—can reel off hundreds of examples of constituents who have come into my surgery to tell me about the desperate financial state in which they and their families find themselves.

Quite recently I had a visit from a single mother, whose three children all have autism. The Department for Work and Pensions had left her with £18 that week to look after herself and the children. That is unacceptable in 2015. We were able to get her to a food bank and to get emergency money to see her through the weekend, and we were able to get her fixed up with welfare rights, to see whether she was getting everything that she was entitled to. Because of various measures that the Department for Work and Pensions had taken, the family had been left with £18 to live on.

There are too many examples of that. George Adam referred to the implications and the consequences of sanctioning by the Department for Work and Pensions. The sanctioning of people who are already down at heel in terms of their income and their ability to make ends meet from week to week is now a major cause of short-term poverty in Scotland. I hope that, when additional powers over welfare are transferred to us, we get control over issues such as that, because those issues are causing much hardship to our people.

Most of the benefit changes that have been made in recent years have been not reforms but cuts to benefits for the most vulnerable members of our society. That has been a major contributing factor to the increase in poverty. The fact that the minimum wage has not kept up with inflation is a major contributing factor to in-work poverty, and that has been the case under both Labour and the coalition Government. Public spending cuts, cuts to housing and cuts to a range of policy areas that have been passed on to Scotland have been a major contributing factor to poverty.

Neil Findlay: Will the cabinet secretary take an intervention?

Alex Neil: I will later.

It is utterly deplorable that the Labour Party joined the Tories and the Liberals in voting for another £30 billion of cuts on top of the existing cuts. I hear Ken Macintosh and Neil Findlay pay lip service to the poor, saying that they care about them, but if they care about the poor they should condemn the vote that took place in the House of Commons the other night.

Alex Johnstone: Is it not ironic that the cabinet secretary talks about cuts to the housing budget when his own Government sought to target the housing budget for disproportionate cuts year on year and only the Barnett consequentials allowed him to reverse part of those cuts?

Alex Neil: The only thing that has been targeted for disproportionate cuts is the block grant from the Government at Westminster to the Scottish Government. We have seen our capital budget sliced to ribbons and cut by 26 per cent over recent years, while the resource budget has been cut in real terms by 10 per cent. If our resource budget is cut by 10 per cent and our capital budget is cut by 26 per cent, we have to live within our means. If it had not been for all the work of John Swinney, the Scottish Futures Trust and all the other initiatives that we have taken, we would not be building the number of houses that we are building now in Scotland every year.

Neil Findlay: Will the cabinet secretary take an intervention?

Alex Neil: No.

I want to mention the income tax cuts. The Tories and the Liberals make a big issue of the increase in the personal allowance, but they forget to tell us that, on the day that they started to increase the personal allowance, they increased VAT from 17.5 to 20 per cent. That is a regressive tax that hits the poorest more than the wealthiest. The Liberals and the Tories have no excuse. The impact on poorer people of the rise in VAT has been far greater than the benefit from any increase in the personal allowance.

That has been the reality over the past four or five years under the coalition and over the previous 13 years. Kevin Stewart was a bit inaccurate when he said only that Blair was a guru of what Mr Findlay called neo-liberal economics. Blair was not the only such Labour guru: Gordon Brown was a neo-liberal economist, Peter Mandelson was a neo-liberal economist and Jim Murphy was a neo-liberal economist. We will not take any lessons from Labour. The only person in the Scottish Labour Party who is not a neo-liberal is Katy Clark, who courageously voted against the cuts the other night in the House of Commons. Unlike Mr Findlay, she has stuck to the promises that she made in the Scottish Labour Party leadership election.

The other parties ask what we are doing to tackle poverty. I will remind the chamber what we are doing in that regard. We are implementing the living wage and the pay rise for National Health Service workers; we will spend almost £300 million on mitigating cuts in welfare; we are investing in public services; we have free prescriptions, free school meals and free higher education; we are keeping the educational maintenance allowance; we are increasing childcare provision and the eligibility for that provision; and we have GIRFEC and modern apprenticeships. We are also doing a whole range of other things.

The other parties pay lip service to poverty and inequality; we act on poverty and inequality.

Public Bodies (Abolition of the Home Grown Timber Advisory Committee) Order 2015

17:00

The Presiding Officer (Tricia Marwick): We move to the next item of business, which is consideration of motion S4M-012096, in the name of Richard Lochhead, on the Public Bodies (Abolition of the Home Grown Timber Advisory Committee) Order 2015, which is United Kingdom-led legislation.

Motion moved,

That the Parliament consents to the making of the Public Bodies (Abolition of the Home Grown Timber Advisory Committee) Order 2015, a draft of which was laid before the United Kingdom Parliament on 2 December 2014 and which makes provision that would be within the legislative competence of the Scottish Parliament if it were contained in an Act of that Parliament.—[*Richard Lochhead.*]

The Presiding Officer: The question on the motion will be put at decision time.

Decision Time

17:01

The Presiding Officer (Tricia Marwick): Five questions are to be put as a result of today's business.

The first question is, that amendment S4M-12095.4, in the name of Ken Macintosh, which seeks to amend motion S4M-12095, in the name of Alex Neil, on tackling inequalities, be agreed to. Are we agreed?

Members: No.

The Presiding Officer: There will be a division.

For

Baillie, Jackie (Dumbarton) (Lab) Baker, Claire (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab) Beamish, Claudia (South Scotland) (Lab) Boyack, Sarah (Lothian) (Lab) Dugdale, Kezia (Lothian) (Lab) Fee, Mary (West Scotland) (Lab) Ferguson, Patricia (Glasgow Maryhill and Springburn) (Lab) Findlay, Neil (Lothian) (Lab) Grant, Rhoda (Highlands and Islands) (Lab) Gray, Iain (East Lothian) (Lab) Griffin, Mark (Central Scotland) (Lab) Harvie, Patrick (Glasgow) (Green) Hilton, Cara (Dunfermline) (Lab) Johnstone, Alison (Lothian) (Green) Lamont, Johann (Glasgow Pollok) (Lab) Macintosh, Ken (Eastwood) (Lab) Malik, Hanzala (Glasgow) (Lab) Marra, Jenny (North East Scotland) (Lab) Martin, Paul (Glasgow Provan) (Lab) McCulloch, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Lab) McDougall, Margaret (West Scotland) (Lab) McMahon, Michael (Uddingston and Bellshill) (Lab) McMahon, Siobhan (Central Scotland) (Lab) McNeil, Duncan (Greenock and Inverclyde) (Lab) McTaggart, Anne (Glasgow) (Lab) Murray, Elaine (Dumfriesshire) (Lab) Pearson, Graeme (South Scotland) (Lab) Pentland, John (Motherwell and Wishaw) (Lab) Smith, Elaine (Coatbridge and Chryston) (Lab) Stewart, David (Highlands and Islands) (Lab)

Against

Adam, George (Paisley) (SNP) Adamson, Clare (Central Scotland) (SNP) Allan, Dr Alasdair (Na h-Eileanan an Iar) (SNP) Allard, Christian (North East Scotland) (SNP) Beattie, Colin (Midlothian North and Musselburgh) (SNP) Biagi, Marco (Edinburgh Central) (SNP) Brodie, Chic (South Scotland) (SNP) Brown, Gavin (Lothian) (Con) Brown, Keith (Clackmannanshire and Dunblane) (SNP) Buchanan, Cameron (Lothian) (Con) Burgess, Margaret (Cunninghame South) (SNP) Campbell, Roderick (North East Fife) (SNP) Carlaw, Jackson (West Scotland) (Con) Chisholm, Malcolm (Edinburgh Northern and Leith) (Lab) Coffey, Willie (Kilmarnock and Irvine Valley) (SNP) Constance, Angela (Almond Valley) (SNP) Crawford, Bruce (Stirling) (SNP) Cunningham, Roseanna (Perthshire South and Kinrossshire) (SNP)

Davidson, Ruth (Glasgow) (Con) Dey, Graeme (Angus South) (SNP) Don, Nigel (Angus North and Mearns) (SNP) Doris, Bob (Glasgow) (SNP) Dornan, James (Glasgow Cathcart) (SNP) Eadie, Jim (Edinburgh Southern) (SNP) Ewing, Annabelle (Mid Scotland and Fife) (SNP) Ewing, Fergus (Inverness and Nairn) (SNP) Fabiani, Linda (East Kilbride) (SNP) Fergusson, Alex (Galloway and West Dumfries) (Con) Finnie, John (Highlands and Islands) (Ind) FitzPatrick, Joe (Dundee City West) (SNP) Fraser, Murdo (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Gibson, Kenneth (Cunninghame North) (SNP) Gibson, Rob (Caithness, Sutherland and Ross) (SNP) Goldie, Annabel (West Scotland) (Con) Grahame, Christine (Midlothian South, Tweeddale and Lauderdale) (SNP) Hepburn, Jamie (Cumbernauld and Kilsyth) (SNP) Hume, Jim (South Scotland) (LD) Hyslop, Fiona (Linlithgow) (SNP) Johnstone, Alex (North East Scotland) (Con) Keir, Colin (Edinburgh Western) (SNP) Kidd, Bill (Glasgow Anniesland) (SNP) Lamont, John (Ettrick, Roxburgh and Berwickshire) (Con) Lochhead, Richard (Moray) (SNP) Lyle, Richard (Central Scotland) (SNP) MacAskill, Kenny (Edinburgh Eastern) (SNP) MacDonald, Angus (Falkirk East) (SNP) MacDonald, Gordon (Edinburgh Pentlands) (SNP) Mackay, Derek (Renfrewshire North and West) (SNP) MacKenzie, Mike (Highlands and Islands) (SNP) Mason, John (Glasgow Shettleston) (SNP) Matheson, Michael (Falkirk West) (SNP) Maxwell, Stewart (West Scotland) (SNP) McAlpine, Joan (South Scotland) (SNP) McArthur, Liam (Orkney Islands) (LD) McDonald, Mark (Aberdeen Donside) (SNP) McGrigor, Jamie (Highlands and Islands) (Con) McInnes, Alison (North East Scotland) (LD) McKelvie, Christina (Hamilton, Larkhall and Stonehouse) (SNP) McLeod, Aileen (South Scotland) (SNP) McLeod, Fiona (Strathkelvin and Bearsden) (SNP) McMillan, Stuart (West Scotland) (SNP) Milne, Nanette (North East Scotland) (Con) Mitchell, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Con) Neil, Alex (Airdrie and Shotts) (SNP) Paterson, Gil (Clydebank and Milngavie) (SNP) Rennie, Willie (Mid Scotland and Fife) (LD) Robertson, Dennis (Aberdeenshire West) (SNP) Robison, Shona (Dundee City East) (SNP) Russell, Michael (Argyll and Bute) (SNP) Scott, John (Ayr) (Con) Smith, Liz (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Stevenson, Stewart (Banffshire and Buchan Coast) (SNP) Stewart, Kevin (Aberdeen Central) (SNP) Swinney, John (Perthshire North) (SNP) Torrance, David (Kirkcaldy) (SNP) Urguhart, Jean (Highlands and Islands) (Ind) Watt, Maureen (Aberdeen South and North Kincardine) (SNP) Wheelhouse, Paul (South Scotland) (SNP) White, Sandra (Glasgow Kelvin) (SNP) Yousaf, Humza (Glasgow) (SNP)

The Presiding Officer: The result of the division is: For 30, Against 80, Abstentions 0.

Amendment disagreed to.

The Presiding Officer: I remind members that if the amendment in the name of Alex Johnstone is agreed to, the amendment in the name of Willie Rennie falls.

The next question is, that amendment S4M-12095.2, in the name of Alex Johnstone, which seeks to amend motion S4M-12095, in the name of Alex Neil, on tackling inequalities, be agreed to. Are we agreed?

Members: No.

The Presiding Officer: There will be a division.

For

Brown, Gavin (Lothian) (Con) Buchanan, Cameron (Lothian) (Con) Carlaw, Jackson (West Scotland) (Con) Davidson, Ruth (Glasgow) (Con) Fergusson, Alex (Galloway and West Dumfries) (Con) Fraser, Murdo (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Goldie, Annabel (West Scotland) (Con) Johnstone, Alex (North East Scotland) (Con) Lamont, John (Ettrick, Roxburgh and Berwickshire) (Con) McGrigor, Jamie (Highlands and Islands) (Con) Milne, Nanette (North East Scotland) (Con) Mitchell, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Con) Scott, John (Ayr) (Con) Smith, Liz (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con)

Against

Adam, George (Paisley) (SNP) Adamson, Clare (Central Scotland) (SNP) Allan, Dr Alasdair (Na h-Eileanan an Iar) (SNP) Allard, Christian (North East Scotland) (SNP) Baillie, Jackie (Dumbarton) (Lab) Baker, Claire (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab) Beamish, Claudia (South Scotland) (Lab) Beattie, Colin (Midlothian North and Musselburgh) (SNP) Biagi, Marco (Edinburgh Central) (SNP) Boyack, Sarah (Lothian) (Lab) Brodie, Chic (South Scotland) (SNP) Brown, Keith (Clackmannanshire and Dunblane) (SNP) Burgess, Margaret (Cunninghame South) (SNP) Campbell, Roderick (North East Fife) (SNP) Chisholm, Malcolm (Edinburgh Northern and Leith) (Lab) Coffey, Willie (Kilmarnock and Irvine Valley) (SNP) Constance, Angela (Almond Valley) (SNP) Crawford, Bruce (Stirling) (SNP) Cunningham, Roseanna (Perthshire South and Kinrossshire) (SNP) Dey, Graeme (Angus South) (SNP) Don, Nigel (Angus North and Mearns) (SNP) Doris, Bob (Glasgow) (SNP) Dornan, James (Glasgow Cathcart) (SNP) Dugdale, Kezia (Lothian) (Lab) Eadie, Jim (Edinburgh Southern) (SNP) Ewing, Annabelle (Mid Scotland and Fife) (SNP) Ewing, Fergus (Inverness and Nairn) (SNP) Fabiani, Linda (East Kilbride) (SNP) Fee, Mary (West Scotland) (Lab) Ferguson, Patricia (Glasgow Maryhill and Springburn) (Lab) Findlay, Neil (Lothian) (Lab) Finnie, John (Highlands and Islands) (Ind) FitzPatrick, Joe (Dundee City West) (SNP) Gibson, Kenneth (Cunninghame North) (SNP) Gibson, Rob (Caithness, Sutherland and Ross) (SNP) Grahame, Christine (Midlothian South, Tweeddale and Lauderdale) (SNP)

Grant, Rhoda (Highlands and Islands) (Lab)

Gray, Iain (East Lothian) (Lab) Griffin, Mark (Central Scotland) (Lab) Harvie, Patrick (Glasgow) (Green) Hepburn, Jamie (Cumbernauld and Kilsyth) (SNP) Hilton, Cara (Dunfermline) (Lab) Hume, Jim (South Scotland) (LD) Hyslop, Fiona (Linlithgow) (SNP) Johnstone, Alison (Lothian) (Green) Keir, Colin (Edinburgh Western) (SNP) Kidd, Bill (Glasgow Anniesland) (SNP) Lamont, Johann (Glasgow Pollok) (Lab) Lochhead, Richard (Moray) (SNP) Lyle, Richard (Central Scotland) (SNP) MacAskill, Kenny (Edinburgh Eastern) (SNP) MacDonald, Angus (Falkirk East) (SNP) MacDonald, Gordon (Edinburgh Pentlands) (SNP) Macintosh, Ken (Eastwood) (Lab) Mackay, Derek (Renfrewshire North and West) (SNP) MacKenzie, Mike (Highlands and Islands) (SNP) Malik, Hanzala (Glasgow) (Lab) Marra, Jenny (North East Scotland) (Lab) Martin, Paul (Glasgow Provan) (Lab) Mason, John (Glasgow Shettleston) (SNP) Matheson, Michael (Falkirk West) (SNP) Maxwell, Stewart (West Scotland) (SNP) McAlpine, Joan (South Scotland) (SNP) McArthur, Liam (Orkney Islands) (LD) McCulloch, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Lab) McDonald, Mark (Aberdeen Donside) (SNP) McDougall, Margaret (West Scotland) (Lab) McInnes, Alison (North East Scotland) (LD) McKelvie, Christina (Hamilton, Larkhall and Stonehouse) (SNP) McLeod, Aileen (South Scotland) (SNP) McLeod, Fiona (Strathkelvin and Bearsden) (SNP) McMahon, Michael (Uddingston and Bellshill) (Lab) McMahon, Siobhan (Central Scotland) (Lab) McMillan, Stuart (West Scotland) (SNP) McNeil, Duncan (Greenock and Inverclyde) (Lab) McTaggart, Anne (Glasgow) (Lab) Murray, Elaine (Dumfriesshire) (Lab) Neil, Alex (Airdrie and Shotts) (SNP) Paterson, Gil (Clydebank and Milngavie) (SNP) Pearson, Graeme (South Scotland) (Lab) Pentland, John (Motherwell and Wishaw) (Lab) Rennie, Willie (Mid Scotland and Fife) (LD) Robertson, Dennis (Aberdeenshire West) (SNP) Robison, Shona (Dundee City East) (SNP) Russell, Michael (Argyll and Bute) (SNP) Smith, Elaine (Coatbridge and Chryston) (Lab) Stevenson, Stewart (Banffshire and Buchan Coast) (SNP) Stewart, David (Highlands and Islands) (Lab) Stewart, Kevin (Aberdeen Central) (SNP) Swinney, John (Perthshire North) (SNP) Torrance, David (Kirkcaldy) (SNP) Urguhart, Jean (Highlands and Islands) (Ind) Watt, Maureen (Aberdeen South and North Kincardine) (SNP) Wheelhouse, Paul (South Scotland) (SNP) White, Sandra (Glasgow Kelvin) (SNP) Wilson, John (Central Scotland) (Ind) Yousaf, Humza (Glasgow) (SNP)

The Presiding Officer: The result of the division is: For 14, Against 97, Abstentions 0.

Amendment disagreed to.

The Presiding Officer: The next question is, that amendment S4M-12095.1, in the name of Willie Rennie, which seeks to amend motion S4M-

12095, in the name of Alex Neil, on tackling inequalities, be agreed to. Are we agreed?

Members: No.

The Presiding Officer: There will be a division.

For

Brown, Gavin (Lothian) (Con) Buchanan, Cameron (Lothian) (Con) Carlaw, Jackson (West Scotland) (Con) Davidson, Ruth (Glasgow) (Con) Fergusson, Alex (Galloway and West Dumfries) (Con) Fraser, Murdo (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Goldie, Annabel (West Scotland) (Con) Hume, Jim (South Scotland) (LD) Johnstone, Alex (North East Scotland) (Con) Lamont, John (Ettrick, Roxburgh and Berwickshire) (Con) McArthur, Liam (Orkney Islands) (LD) McGrigor, Jamie (Highlands and Islands) (Con) McInnes, Alison (North East Scotland) (LD) Milne, Nanette (North East Scotland) (Con) Mitchell, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Con) Rennie, Willie (Mid Scotland and Fife) (LD) Scott, John (Ayr) (Con) Smith, Liz (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con)

Against

Adam, George (Paisley) (SNP) Adamson, Clare (Central Scotland) (SNP) Allan, Dr Alasdair (Na h-Eileanan an Iar) (SNP) Allard, Christian (North East Scotland) (SNP) Baillie, Jackie (Dumbarton) (Lab) Baker, Claire (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab) Beamish, Claudia (South Scotland) (Lab) Beattie, Colin (Midlothian North and Musselburgh) (SNP) Biagi, Marco (Edinburgh Central) (SNP) Boyack, Sarah (Lothian) (Lab) Brodie, Chic (South Scotland) (SNP) Brown, Keith (Clackmannanshire and Dunblane) (SNP) Burgess, Margaret (Cunninghame South) (SNP) Campbell, Roderick (North East Fife) (SNP) Chisholm, Malcolm (Edinburgh Northern and Leith) (Lab) Coffey, Willie (Kilmarnock and Irvine Valley) (SNP) Constance, Angela (Almond Valley) (SNP) Crawford, Bruce (Stirling) (SNP) Cunningham, Roseanna (Perthshire South and Kinrossshire) (SNP) Dey, Graeme (Angus South) (SNP) Don, Nigel (Angus North and Mearns) (SNP) Doris, Bob (Glasgow) (SNP) Dornan, James (Glasgow Cathcart) (SNP) Dugdale, Kezia (Lothian) (Lab) Eadie, Jim (Edinburgh Southern) (SNP) Ewing, Annabelle (Mid Scotland and Fife) (SNP) Ewing, Fergus (Inverness and Nairn) (SNP) Fabiani, Linda (East Kilbride) (SNP) Fee, Mary (West Scotland) (Lab) Ferguson, Patricia (Glasgow Maryhill and Springburn) (Lab) Findlay, Neil (Lothian) (Lab) Finnie, John (Highlands and Islands) (Ind) FitzPatrick, Joe (Dundee City West) (SNP) Gibson, Kenneth (Cunninghame North) (SNP) Gibson, Rob (Caithness, Sutherland and Ross) (SNP) Grahame, Christine (Midlothian South, Tweeddale and Lauderdale) (SNP) Grant, Rhoda (Highlands and Islands) (Lab) Gray, Iain (East Lothian) (Lab) Griffin, Mark (Central Scotland) (Lab) Harvie, Patrick (Glasgow) (Green) Hepburn, Jamie (Cumbernauld and Kilsyth) (SNP)

Hilton, Cara (Dunfermline) (Lab)

Hyslop, Fiona (Linlithgow) (SNP) Johnstone, Alison (Lothian) (Green) Keir, Colin (Edinburgh Western) (SNP) Kidd, Bill (Glasgow Anniesland) (SNP) Lamont, Johann (Glasgow Pollok) (Lab) Lochhead, Richard (Moray) (SNP) Lyle, Richard (Central Scotland) (SNP) MacAskill, Kenny (Edinburgh Eastern) (SNP) MacDonald, Angus (Falkirk East) (SNP) MacDonald, Gordon (Edinburgh Pentlands) (SNP) Macintosh, Ken (Eastwood) (Lab) Mackay, Derek (Renfrewshire North and West) (SNP) MacKenzie, Mike (Highlands and Islands) (SNP) Malik, Hanzala (Glasgow) (Lab) Marra, Jenny (North East Scotland) (Lab) Martin, Paul (Glasgow Provan) (Lab) Mason, John (Glasgow Shettleston) (SNP) Matheson, Michael (Falkirk West) (SNP) Maxwell, Stewart (West Scotland) (SNP) McAlpine, Joan (South Scotland) (SNP) McCulloch, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Lab) McDonald, Mark (Aberdeen Donside) (SNP) McDougall, Margaret (West Scotland) (Lab) McKelvie, Christina (Hamilton, Larkhall and Stonehouse) (SNP) McLeod, Aileen (South Scotland) (SNP) McLeod, Fiona (Strathkelvin and Bearsden) (SNP) McMahon, Michael (Uddingston and Bellshill) (Lab) McMahon, Siobhan (Central Scotland) (Lab) McMillan, Stuart (West Scotland) (SNP) McNeil, Duncan (Greenock and Inverclyde) (Lab) McTaggart, Anne (Glasgow) (Lab) Murray, Elaine (Dumfriesshire) (Lab) Neil, Alex (Airdrie and Shotts) (SNP) Paterson, Gil (Clydebank and Milngavie) (SNP) Pearson, Graeme (South Scotland) (Lab) Pentland, John (Motherwell and Wishaw) (Lab) Robertson, Dennis (Aberdeenshire West) (SNP) Robison, Shona (Dundee City East) (SNP) Russell, Michael (Argyll and Bute) (SNP) Smith, Elaine (Coatbridge and Chryston) (Lab) Stevenson, Stewart (Banffshire and Buchan Coast) (SNP) Stewart, David (Highlands and Islands) (Lab) Stewart, Kevin (Aberdeen Central) (SNP) Swinney, John (Perthshire North) (SNP) Torrance, David (Kirkcaldy) (SNP) Urquhart, Jean (Highlands and Islands) (Ind) Watt, Maureen (Aberdeen South and North Kincardine) (SNP) Wheelhouse, Paul (South Scotland) (SNP) White, Sandra (Glasgow Kelvin) (SNP) Wilson, John (Central Scotland) (Ind)

The Presiding Officer: The result of the division is: For 18, Against 93, Abstentions 0.

Amendment disagreed to.

Yousaf, Humza (Glasgow) (SNP)

The Presiding Officer: The next question is, that motion S4M-12095, in the name of Alex Neil, on tackling inequalities, be agreed to. Are we agreed?

Members: No.

The Presiding Officer: There will be a division.

For

Adam, George (Paisley) (SNP) Adamson, Clare (Central Scotland) (SNP) Allan, Dr Alasdair (Na h-Eileanan an Iar) (SNP) Allard, Christian (North East Scotland) (SNP) Baillie, Jackie (Dumbarton) (Lab) Baker, Claire (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab) Beamish, Claudia (South Scotland) (Lab) Beattie, Colin (Midlothian North and Musselburgh) (SNP) Biagi, Marco (Edinburgh Central) (SNP) Boyack, Sarah (Lothian) (Lab) Brodie, Chic (South Scotland) (SNP) Brown, Keith (Clackmannanshire and Dunblane) (SNP) Burgess, Margaret (Cunninghame South) (SNP) Campbell, Roderick (North East Fife) (SNP) Chisholm, Malcolm (Edinburgh Northern and Leith) (Lab) Coffey, Willie (Kilmarnock and Irvine Valley) (SNP) Constance, Angela (Almond Valley) (SNP) Crawford, Bruce (Stirling) (SNP) Cunningham, Roseanna (Perthshire South and Kinrossshire) (SNP) Dev, Graeme (Angus South) (SNP) Don, Nigel (Angus North and Mearns) (SNP) Doris, Bob (Glasgow) (SNP) Dornan, James (Glasgow Cathcart) (SNP) Dugdale, Kezia (Lothian) (Lab) Eadie, Jim (Edinburgh Southern) (SNP) Ewing, Annabelle (Mid Scotland and Fife) (SNP) Ewing, Fergus (Inverness and Nairn) (SNP) Fabiani, Linda (East Kilbride) (SNP) Fee, Mary (West Scotland) (Lab) Ferguson, Patricia (Glasgow Maryhill and Springburn) (Lab) Findlay, Neil (Lothian) (Lab) Finnie, John (Highlands and Islands) (Ind) FitzPatrick, Joe (Dundee City West) (SNP) Gibson, Kenneth (Cunninghame North) (SNP) Gibson, Rob (Caithness, Sutherland and Ross) (SNP) Grahame, Christine (Midlothian South, Tweeddale and Lauderdale) (SNP) Grant, Rhoda (Highlands and Islands) (Lab) Gray, Iain (East Lothian) (Lab) Griffin, Mark (Central Scotland) (Lab) Harvie, Patrick (Glasgow) (Green) Hepburn, Jamie (Cumbernauld and Kilsyth) (SNP) Hilton, Cara (Dunfermline) (Lab) Hyslop, Fiona (Linlithgow) (SNP) Johnstone, Alison (Lothian) (Green) Keir, Colin (Edinburgh Western) (SNP) Kidd, Bill (Glasgow Anniesland) (SNP) Lamont, Johann (Glasgow Pollok) (Lab) Lochhead, Richard (Moray) (SNP) Lyle, Richard (Central Scotland) (SNP) MacAskill, Kenny (Edinburgh Eastern) (SNP) MacDonald, Angus (Falkirk East) (SNP) MacDonald, Gordon (Edinburgh Pentlands) (SNP) Macintosh, Ken (Eastwood) (Lab) Mackay, Derek (Renfrewshire North and West) (SNP) MacKenzie, Mike (Highlands and Islands) (SNP) Malik, Hanzala (Glasgow) (Lab) Marra, Jenny (North East Scotland) (Lab) Martin, Paul (Glasgow Provan) (Lab) Mason, John (Glasgow Shettleston) (SNP) Matheson, Michael (Falkirk West) (SNP) Maxwell, Stewart (West Scotland) (SNP) McAlpine, Joan (South Scotland) (SNP) McCulloch, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Lab) McDonald, Mark (Aberdeen Donside) (SNP) McDougall, Margaret (West Scotland) (Lab) McKelvie, Christina (Hamilton, Larkhall and Stonehouse) (SNP) McLeod, Aileen (South Scotland) (SNP) McLeod, Fiona (Strathkelvin and Bearsden) (SNP) McMahon, Michael (Uddingston and Bellshill) (Lab) McMahon, Siobhan (Central Scotland) (Lab) McMillan, Stuart (West Scotland) (SNP)

McNeil, Duncan (Greenock and Inverclyde) (Lab) McTaggart, Anne (Glasgow) (Lab) Murray, Elaine (Dumfriesshire) (Lab) Neil, Alex (Airdrie and Shotts) (SNP) Paterson, Gil (Clydebank and Milngavie) (SNP) Pearson, Graeme (South Scotland) (Lab) Pentland, John (Motherwell and Wishaw) (Lab) Robertson, Dennis (Aberdeenshire West) (SNP) Robison, Shona (Dundee City East) (SNP) Russell, Michael (Argyll and Bute) (SNP) Smith, Elaine (Coatbridge and Chryston) (Lab) Stevenson, Stewart (Banffshire and Buchan Coast) (SNP) Stewart, David (Highlands and Islands) (Lab) Stewart, Kevin (Aberdeen Central) (SNP) Swinney, John (Perthshire North) (SNP) Torrance, David (Kirkcaldy) (SNP) Urguhart, Jean (Highlands and Islands) (Ind) Watt, Maureen (Aberdeen South and North Kincardine) (SNP) Wheelhouse, Paul (South Scotland) (SNP) White, Sandra (Glasgow Kelvin) (SNP) Wilson, John (Central Scotland) (Ind) Yousaf, Humza (Glasgow) (SNP)

Against

Brown, Gavin (Lothian) (Con) Buchanan, Cameron (Lothian) (Con) Carlaw, Jackson (West Scotland) (Con) Davidson, Ruth (Glasgow) (Con) Fergusson, Alex (Galloway and West Dumfries) (Con) Fraser, Murdo (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Goldie, Annabel (West Scotland) (Con) Hume, Jim (South Scotland) (LD) Johnstone, Alex (North East Scotland) (Con) Lamont, John (Ettrick, Roxburgh and Berwickshire) (Con) McArthur, Liam (Orkney Islands) (LD) McGrigor, Jamie (Highlands and Islands) (Con) McInnes, Alison (North East Scotland) (LD) Milne, Nanette (North East Scotland) (Con) Mitchell, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Con) Rennie, Willie (Mid Scotland and Fife) (LD) Scott, John (Ayr) (Con) Smith, Liz (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con)

The Presiding Officer: The result of the division is: For 93, Against 18, Abstentions 0.

Motion agreed to,

That the Parliament agrees that a strong, sustainable economy is essential to building a fair and wealthy society; further agrees that a society that is fair and equitable underpins a strong economy; believes that an essential element of this is that work should be a route out of poverty; deplores the fact that half of children in poverty are growing up in a household where at least one person is in employment; further believes that this is a clear sign that the economic and social policies of the UK Government are failing Scotland; notes the commitment of the Scottish Government to build a fairer Scotland and tackle inequality; welcomes the positive steps that the Scottish Government has taken toward this by paying the living wage as part of its pay policy and, by supporting living wage accreditation, encouraging more organisations to do the same; further welcomes the development of the Fair Work Convention to promote and sustain a fair employment framework, and is concerned that these efforts are at risk of being undermined by the £6 billion of welfare cuts being made by the UK Government.

The Presiding Officer: The next question is, that motion S4M-12096, in the name of Richard Lochhead, on the Public Bodies (Abolition of the

Home Grown Timber Advisory Committee) Order 2015, be agreed to.

Motion agreed to,

That the Parliament consents to the making of the Public Bodies (Abolition of the Home Grown Timber Advisory Committee) Order 2015, a draft of which was laid before the United Kingdom Parliament on 2 December 2014 and which makes provision that would be within the legislative competence of the Scottish Parliament if it were contained in an Act of that Parliament.

Mercy Corps 35th Anniversary

The Deputy Presiding Officer (Elaine Smith): The final item of business is a members' business debate on motion S4M-11272, in the name of Jim Eadie, on the 35th anniversary of Mercy Corps. The debate will be concluded without any question being put.

Motion debated,

That the Parliament celebrates what it sees as 35 years of Mercy Corps' positive contribution to the world; notes that it was established in the USA in 1979 as the Save the Refugees Fund; understands that, after changing its name, in 1996 it merged with the Edinburgh-based Scottish European Aid to launch its European-led operations; notes that these are headquartered in Edinburgh; thanks Mercy Corps on what it sees as its ongoing efforts to raise the public's awareness of the importance of international development; believes that its work has helped improve 229 million lives in 115 countries; understands that it is currently working in over 40 countries; notes that 93% of its staff are from these countries and believes that its determination to work with locally-based people has given it a deep insight into the problems and solutions needed in the areas in which it operates; understands that it aims to solve a multitude of issues, including the marginalisation of women and minorities, responding to conflict, and dealing with economic collapse and natural disasters; supports it in what it sees as its approach toward long-term recovery by staying in the country beyond any initial emergencies to help ensure stability; applauds Mercy Corps in its continued presence in Pakistan, Liberia, Haiti, Gaza, Afghanistan and Indonesia; believes that, in these countries, it aims to move communities from relief to recovery to resilience and it is committed to engaging market forces; recognises the bravery and determination of its staff who continue their operations in war-torn countries such as Iraq, Central African Republic, South Sudan and Syria while helping thousands of internally-displaced civilians; commends it on its work in Liberia to help stop the spread of the Ebola virus; supports the Scottish Government's continued spending on international development and on the funding of non-governmental organisations such as Mercy Corps, and wishes Mercy Corps every success in its future endeavours.

17:07

Jim Eadie (Edinburgh Southern) (SNP): I thank members across the chamber who have signed my motion and have stayed behind for the debate. I also welcome the staff of Mercy Corps and from the University of Edinburgh student charity group who have joined us in the gallery.

Scotland is leading the world in international development through the work of Mercy Corps, whose European headquarters is based in Edinburgh. The purpose of this debate, as well as to celebrate 35 years of one of the leading organisations in the field, is to focus attention on Scotland's impact on and commitment to international development.

Before I focus on the activities of Mercy Corps, I would like to pay tribute to some of the other

leading actors in the field in Scotland. The Scottish Catholic International Aid Fund, which is the official aid and development charity of the Catholic church in Scotland, works in 16 countries in Asia, Africa and Latin America. Mary's Meals feeds almost 1 million schoolchildren every day. Christian Aid Scotland works globally to eradicate poverty and is one of Scotland's largest voluntary organisations, with 600 volunteer groups that are based in churches. Oxfam Scotland campaigns for an end to poverty and to raise awareness of climate justice.

As members can see, the sector is rich and varied. At the helm is the Network of International Development Organisations in Scotland—NIDOS—which does fantastic work in promoting collaboration across the sector.

Mercy Corps Scotland has a total income of over £45 million. Its Edinburgh office supports country programmes in 34 countries around the world. There are 40 people in its Edinburgh office, who are employed as programme officers, international finance officers, compliance managers and fundraisers, covering the broad spectrum of fundraising.

The work of Mercy Corps covers the range of activity from immediate disaster relief, such as the provision of urgent water, food and shelter in the Gaza crisis last year—it is worth noting that, after the United Nations, Mercy Corps has the largest humanitarian presence on the ground in Gaza—to immediate recovery, such as its prevention of child soldiers programme in Colombia and its water and sanitation programme in the Democratic Republic of the Congo, which will bring water to 1.5 million people over the next five years.

Ultimately, its activity also includes work on resilience, such as its programme in Georgia, Armenia and Azerbaijan, which is creating two eco-zones to strengthen capacity to withstand climate change. So far, 12 pilot projects have been implemented in innovative sustainable land management to address desertification, overgrazing, deforestation and water-management problems.

By combining those three areas of focus immediate humanitarian response, rapid economic recovery and long-term resilience and selfreliance—Mercy Corps takes a distinct approach to international development work and creates a vehicle for lasting, sustainable improvement in people's lives. It innovates and uses technology wherever possible, such as in its programmes in Uganda, Zimbabwe and Indonesia to improve food security. It is developing a suite of mobile-based products for smallholder farmers to provide them with market information and financial management practices to increase farm productivity. Mercy Corps often begins working in a country during a humanitarian crisis, in which its immediate action saves lives and reduces suffering. Then, just as quickly, it extends its efforts to economic empowerment initiatives. In this way, it helps communities rapidly recover from the crisis and create mechanisms to increase their resilience to shocks and setbacks that are likely to recur.

Mercy Corps takes a distinct approach to international development work and, simply put, where others see intractable problems, it looks for opportunities for progress. It knows that local people are the best agents of the fastest, most durable economic recovery. That is why 93 per cent of its staff are local to the countries in which they work.

Closer to home, Mercy Corps has worked closely with a range of organisations through the Edinburgh disasters response committee. For the past six weeks, Mercy Corps and EDRC have been running a Christmas appeal. In previous years, with the generous support of the people of Edinburgh, they raised an incredible £430,000 for Haiti and a further £200,000 for Pakistan.

Last year was an unprecedented year for the humanitarian field. The world now has the highest number of people displaced since 1945. The United Nations declared four of the world's humanitarian crises level 3, which is the organisation's highest designation. They are in Iraq, South Sudan, Syria and the Central African Republic. Those are all countries in which Mercy Corps is working on the ground.

This year is going to be a watershed year. March will see the fourth anniversary of the commencement of the conflict in Syria, and Mercy Corps currently has the largest Department for International Development-funded response programme in that country. The rise in chronic crises is an area that Mercy Corps is working on, as it continues its work on economic development in fragile and conflict-prone states. That is something that we must all pay attention to. As the Ebola crisis in west Africa has shown, complex emergencies are impacting on longer-term development.

Also this year, the current millennium development goals will come to an end and new ones will be set. It is time to consider what Scotland's role should be and what we can do as a society to help.

The Scottish Government's international development fund—in relation to which I pay tribute to international development ministers past and present—has done great work in pursuit of the millennium development goals. How will it change to reflect the evolving development priorities?

We must pay more attention to complex emergencies that impact on development, and to the role of young people in that, recognising that disenfranchised and unemployed young people are critical to economic development and conflict resolution.

I am proud that the Scottish Government, with cross-party support, has provided assistance in major humanitarian emergencies over the past decade, fulfilling Scotland's role as a good global citizen. Those have included the 2010 monsoon floods in Pakistan, the conflict in Syria, typhoon Haiyan, last summer's crisis in Gaza and most recently the struggle against Ebola in west Africa. I believe that we need to develop a strategy to better respond to humanitarian crises in a more deliberate and proactive way. Mercy Corps and others have already been discussing how the Scottish Government responds to humanitarian crises, and we should consider how we formalise the process for triggering humanitarian aid, and whether we set up a separate humanitarian fund.

Scotland's impact on the world is not limited to its international development and aid policies. How Scottish companies operate internationally, the consumer choices that people in Scotland make and a range of Government policies, including energy, climate and procurement policies, all have a major global impact.

We also need to mainstream gender equality and women's empowerment in all of our international development programmes and ensure that they are at the heart of development work in the areas of education, health and employment.

In conclusion, let us congratulate Mercy Corps, whose projects over the past 35 years have improved beyond measure the lives of 229 million people in 115 countries across our planet. Let us pay tribute to all of the staff and volunteers who have made that work possible and let us wish them well in the work that they will do in the years ahead.

17:15

Malcolm Chisholm (Edinburgh Northern and Leith) (Lab): I congratulate Jim Eadie on bringing the motion to the chamber for debate and join him in recognising the truly global impact of Mercy Corps. In its 35th year of operation, it is right that we look back at its positive legacy in building resilient communities in times of crisis.

As the motion points out, Mercy Corps is active in communities in more than 40 countries and is funded entirely through charitable donations. It works with a clear vision to build more sustainable solutions to the problems that are borne of poverty, civil war, long-term economic hardship, religious persecution and social exclusion.

The charity's success lies in its extensive knowledge of the communities and its contacts at the grass roots, which help it to form supportive networks across sectors and build resilience. As Mercy Corps puts it:

"We often enter during a humanitarian crisis, move rapidly to recovery, and then build long-term resilience to recurring stresses."

Understanding how those recurring stresses emerge depends on its presence and contacts within the community. In all situations, those community-led solutions form the heart of the Mercy Corps strategy.

Mercy Corps does that using each developing country's emergent technologies and focuses specifically on promoting gender equality, in recognition that doing so is an integral part of sustainable social and economic solutions. It also does that in the face of truly global problems. Poverty, conflict, weak governance, climate change and increasing population and food insecurity are all cited in the strategic road map as the cause of many long-term humanitarian crises and the barriers to tackling them.

I will touch on two countries that are mentioned in the motion: Haiti and Gaza. On 12 January 2010, a 7.0 magnitude earthquake struck Haiti. Many members will recall the devastating impact that had on the country, particularly in the capital Port-au-Prince, where there were estimates of between 220,000 and 316,000 victims. More than 300,000 more people were injured.

The Mercy Corps representatives on the ground worked to ensure that survivors' immediate needs-including food, water and post-trauma recovery-were addressed as a priority. That included providing 9.5 million litres of fresh water through water vouchers, purification tablets and high-capacity water filtration units. They also distributed more than 100,000 hygiene kits. Following that, they provided temporary jobs to more than 28,000 people who worked to clean up and begin rebuilding their communities. They also helped to restart the local economy by providing more than 180,000 Haitians with a cash transfer programme to purchase essentials for local markets. That allowed something of normal life to return to residents who had been badly traumatised.

A second example is Gaza, the horrors of which are fresh in everyone's mind after recent events. In the midst of that intense conflict and frequent bombing in civilian areas, Mercy Corps was on the ground distributing urgent supplies of food and water. It also distributed hygiene kits with essentials such as soap, towels, toothbrushes and toothpaste, as well as heavy tarps that families could use as temporary shelter materials.

Mercy Corps also held—and still does, I believe—psychosocial sessions, which help children to express their feelings after severe trauma and teach parents how to deal with signs of psychological stress. Those happened before the two most recent wars and will continue as a key local service that is needed more with each year that passes.

Those are only two examples of how the work of Mercy Corps varies according to the situation. The salient factor in all circumstances is that it is rooted within the community and constitutes a constant and stable presence that understands the complexities of towns, cities, regions and countries and how to form local solutions that can be built on year by year as a community heals.

The scale of Mercy Corps's ambitions and achievements is truly remarkable. I urge all members present—and all absent members—to visit its site, read the inspirational stories and watch the videos that come from around the world.

I congratulate Jim Eadie again on lodging the motion, which I fully support.

17:19

David Torrance (Kirkcaldy) (SNP): I thank Jim Eadie for bringing this motion to the chamber and I extend my congratulations to Mercy Corps in celebration of its 35th anniversary.

Since its establishment in 1979, Mercy Corps has, through its various activities, made a real difference to an increasing number of people. Currently, the organisation is implementing projects in more than 34 countries, ranging from war-torn regions such as Syria and Gaza to countries repeatedly hit by natural disasters, including Haiti and Sri Lanka.

Considering the devastating situation that many people are faced with daily in those and many other countries, I believe that we have a responsibility as an affluent nation to help. Having recognised its role as a modern global citizen, Scotland is committed to contribute to the fight against global poverty.

I express my solidarity with Malawi today, as the country was hit by severe floods last week. At least 176 people have died so far, more than 200,000 people have lost their homes and continued heavy rainfall is forecast in the coming weeks. Malawi's president has appealed for international assistance. As the catastrophe has hit one of the poorest regions in the world, the country itself is not able to counteract the immediate damage and put in place a plan to help the country to rebuild structurally and economically. Therefore, I welcome the help that the First Minister has offered this week.

Besides providing desperately needed support in emergency situations, I believe that we should look at the wider picture and address the issues involved in international development in the long term. In recent years, some experts such as Zambian-born Dambisa Moyo have tried to discredit the impact of international aid. Over the past 50 years, over \$1 trillion in aid has been transferred to Africa alone, although many Africans continue to live below subsistence levels. That argument is controversial, but it reminds us that international aid has to be scrutinised carefully if we want it to be sustainable.

Those are just some of the questions that must be asked. What are the purposes and goals of international development? How should it be implemented and who should implement it? How can Scotland contribute to a just and fair world? Mercy Corps seeks to answer those and similar questions daily. Thus it has created a framework for change, which focuses on three main elements: involving local communities; building on local markets and economies; and assistance in developing good governance.

Being aware of and actively encouraging all the stakeholders involved was identified as key to securing sustainable change. Mercy Corps projects connect the civil society with the private and public sectors to create secure, productive and just societies. The organisation also tries to strengthen the ties between all participating parties, enabling them to interact effectively with each other while facilitating their engagement with the local population. Lastly, the organisation has generated the ability to determine and truly understand the support needs of people in developing countries.

The latter point has led to a focus on promoting self-empowerment by providing people in developing countries with the tools to shape their own futures. It is therefore important that we focus not solely on the aid budget but on the overall impact of Scotland's actions on international development.

Money alone cannot eradicate poverty. Instead we should take a coherent approach to prodevelopment policy. That can be achieved by promoting equality, human rights and democratic governance in all our external actions, especially in the areas of the economic and financial system, trade and climate justice. I am proud to say that even though Scotland is a small country, it is committed to sharing its experiences on issues ranging from public financial management to holding democratic elections and strengthening civil society.

Since the Scotland Malawi Partnership was established, it has facilitated networking, promoted best practice examples, and-not least-created many friendships across two geographically distant countries. Because of such achievements, I believe that it is important not only to consider what still has to be done but to remind ourselves of the work that has been accomplished by the Scotland Malawi Partnership and Mercy Corps. Many other organisations and volunteers are contributing to and continuing to strengthen Scotland's impact on the world. I take this opportunity to mention Pauline Cafferkey and all the others who have bravely volunteered to support the fight against Ebola in the affected regions in West Africa.

Lastly, I congratulate Mercy Corps once more and wish its staff in Scotland, as well as in all those countries that work in partnership with Mercy Corps, continued success in their work.

17:24

Cameron Buchanan (Lothian) (Con): I am pleased to support my friend Jim Eadie's motion celebrating 35 years of Mercy Corps, and to discuss international development and the valuable work that charitable organisations such as Mercy Corps undertake.

Mercy Corps does a vast amount of work all over the world that makes a real difference to the lives of millions, as we have heard. Given that we are discussing international development, it is important that the Parliament acknowledges the work that is done by a number of other international non-governmental organisations such as Save the Children, CARE International and Médecins Sans Frontières. The common link among those organisations is that, through immense effort and dedication, they spread their impact and make a noticeable positive difference on a global scale.

As Mercy Corps is aware, it takes more than donating large sums of money to make a lasting difference in international development. The fact that Mercy Corps has helped to improve the lives of 229 million people in 115 countries, from Afghanistan, Guatemala and Yemen to Bolivia, Kyrgyzstan and Zimbabwe, is proof that the organisation understands that and has applied its knowledge expertly.

That all comes down to the organisation's core beliefs in communities as the best agents of their own change, local markets as the best engines of sustainable recovery, and good governance as the foundation of success. That last point is underlined by the fact that more than 80 per cent of the resources at the disposal of Mercy Corps in the past five years has been put straight into programmes for those who are most in need in times of crisis.

Those examples, along with the points that colleagues have made, make it clear that Mercy Corps sets an example in international development of which it is rightly proud.

I also want to draw attention to the excellent work that is done by those other international charitable organisations. One that comes to mind is Save the Children, which in 2013 helped 15.4 million children in its work across more than 120 countries. Save the Children's approach, with the help of artists, ambassadors and corporate partnerships, makes a lasting difference in international development and in doing so sets another example of how a real difference can be made.

I could choose from many examples, but the final organisation that I will highlight is Médecins Sans Frontières. It is very well known due to its success and dedication, which is why it deserves some of our attention tonight as we discuss the principles that underline the most successful charitable work.

The underlying principles of Médecins Sans Frontières are independence, neutrality and impartiality. Those values enable the organisation to concentrate entirely on getting help to those who need it, wherever they are. In addition, MSF practises its policy that gaining the acceptance of local communities is the key to being able to perform its work effectively, which is something that it has in common with many charitable organisations.

It is most welcome that we have had the opportunity to discuss Mercy Corps and its wider achievements in international development. As many of my fellow members have mentioned, Mercy Corps has been a huge success and deserves much acclaim. One of the key messages that I hope members will take away from the debate is that real progress is made in development when charitable organisations have at their core a set of principles that allow them to have a lasting impact on a global scale. Those principles, which include good governance, impartiality and promoting community-led and market-based initiatives, set an example that we in Parliament should applaud and that many international organisations should follow.

17:27

Linda Fabiani (East Kilbride) (SNP): I am pleased to take part in the debate that my colleague Jim Eadie has brought to the chamber, and to give due recognition to Mercy Corps. For 35 years now, as we have heard, Mercy Corps has been carrying out fantastic work all over Europe and the world, with its main headquarters situated in Portland, Oregon. The organisation is quite quiet in doing what it does, and we do not hear about it all the time; it just quietly gets on with things.

I first came across Mercy Corps some years ago when I was trustee of a charity called Just World Partners, which dealt largely in the southern Pacific region. For various reasons the charity had to be wound up, and Mercy Corps came in and took over the small projects to ensure that the recipients of the work that was going on were not disadvantaged in any way. I have always felt that the organisation's prime motivation is, as we have heard from other members, to give help where it is needed.

I have a particular interest in Timor-Leste, where Mercy Corps is doing a lot of work. Jim Eadie asked that women's empowerment be at the centre of development. Mercy Corps has done some work in Timor Leste to prove that child nutrition increases as a result of women's empowerment. I ask the minister to have a look at that work, as the information on it makes interesting reading.

I want to speak in particular about the energy for all programme, which is being run by Mercy Corps through the European Commission in Timor-Leste. Mercy Corps is doing that in the way that it does most other things, which is by partnering with local communities. That is not always easy. It sounds like one of those buzz phrases that everyone uses-"Yes, we partner with local communities." Quite often, that is not the case, because it is difficult, and it is much easier for such organisations just to get on and do things and have all the local people standing around watching them. That was a problem that blighted development for some international time Thankfully, we have got over that in the past couple of decades.

In Timor-Leste, Mercy Corps partnered with local committees in a scheme to address the country's infrastructure problems. Infrastructure is bad there, which is not surprising when we consider the scorched earth policy that the Indonesians left with after the independence referendum.

Only 38 per cent of a population of just over 1 million in Timor-Leste has access to an electricity supply, which, I can say from experience, is not always reliable. In rural areas, 90 per cent of people relied on kerosene until Mercy Corps tried to make a difference by providing solar panels. It set up and partnered with small local companies, providing microfinance where necessary and trying to make a difference in people's lives. We all know the problems associated with cooking on wood-fired open stoves, which is what most people in Timor do. However, to use kerosene for lighting is dangerous, not only in health terms but because of the horrific fires that can happen.

I could talk about this for ever and I have barely started. One thing that I took from Mercy Corp's fine report is how honest and up front it is about its achievements. It has included headline lessons in the report, some of which are critical of itself. That is an important thing for agencies to do.

Mercy Corps has hit the nail on the head about an issue that always irritates me. It says that market development programmes require longer and more flexible intervention timeframes, particularly in high-risk areas. Far too often, we go in and say, "Right, in three years we're going to make these wondrous changes." Sometimes, three years is not enough. Sometimes, it will be 10 years, 20 years or even 30 years. We need to be realistic about how long it takes a society to turn itself around and be able to do things for itself.

The reason why I know that Mercy Corps has tried to partner with local communities in Timor is because I was speaking to some friends there. Although I heard good and bad reports about what Mercy Corps is doing there, that is proof that it is working, because if everybody was saying that it was fantastic it would be because it was just giving stuff away.

I say well done to everyone at Mercy Corps for the energy for all programme, and I give particular thanks to those working on the ground in Dili and all the rural areas of East Timor.

17:33

Patricia Ferguson (Glasgow Maryhill and Springburn) (Lab): I, too, congratulate Jim Eadie on securing the debate. His interest in international development is recognised by us all.

We should celebrate the 35th anniversary of Mercy Corps and, in doing so, we acknowledge the excellent work that the organisation and its staff have done in those 35 years. We acknowledge, too, all the aid organisations that operate out of Scotland.

Jim Eadie's motion recognises the bravery and commitment of the staff of Mercy Corps, the organisation's reach and the effectiveness of the work that it has done and continues to do. He is right to highlight those aspects.

Rather than consider what is perhaps the expanded world view of Mercy Corps, I will focus on a particular aspect of its work. In a previous members' business debate that I secured, I drew attention to the plight of those who have been displaced because of the conflict in Syria and made a plea that we should not forget the children

of that conflict and the need to ensure that they are not deprived of an education. That area of work has been a focus for Mercy Corps and it has made a significant contribution to that.

As we know, more than 3 million people have been displaced from their homes in Syria. Their neighbours in Lebanon, Jordan, Turkey and Iraq are struggling because services in those countries are overstretched.

Mercy Corps is working to support around 800,000 refugees and is a supporter of the no lost generation campaign by the United Nations Children's Fund, which highlights the long-term problems of the 1.2 million children who are missing out not just on an education but on stability at a crucial point in their lives. Mercy Corps has made a point of trying to assist adolescents in the refugee and host communities and has highlighted the isolation and lack of social support that those young people often suffer. The situation of girls is particularly difficult, as they are often from conservative communities and become tied to their homes, with no opportunity to acquire vocational skills or to become financially independent.

I must stress why that work is so important. Mercy Corps makes the point that the choices that we make in adolescence influence the paths that we follow in later life. The current cohort of young people is likely to be the one that has to deal with the aftermath of the conflict so, if those young people are deprived of an education, life and work skills, training in business and entrepreneurship and an understanding of community involvement and community life, not only are they being deprived of those opportunities as individuals but the opportunities for rebuilding Syria are being seriously limited. I believe that the issue is that important.

So what can we do? Mercy Corps has suggested a number of areas where additional help would make a difference, and I will highlight just one or two. I mentioned that girls in such situations are often pressured to stay indoors for their safety and because they are expected to do the household chores. Crucially, they need safe spaces where they can be mentored, supported and encouraged to continue their education and perhaps delay marriage and pregnancy.

To come back to education, schools in host communities are overstretched and there is a lack of clarity about things that we take for granted, such as certification and accreditation. There are difficulties of language and stigmatisation. More flexibility needs to be built into the system and communities need to be helped to understand the value that that can bring to their young people and their country. Mercy Corps is doing a fantastic job, day in and day out, but it cannot do that alone. In this, its anniversary year, it would be good to be able to say that our country, which values education so highly, is with Mercy Corps in the job that it is doing. Perhaps the minister will consider ways in which the Government's international development budget could assist.

Mercy Corps has branded its work in the area with the tagline "Syrian Adolescents: Their Tomorrow Begins Today". All of us should want to be part of securing a brighter future for young Syrians. By doing so, we can be part of helping to build a safe and stable Syria, too.

17:38

Liam McArthur (Orkney Islands) (LD): I, too, thank Jim Eadie not just for the motion and for securing the debate but for the passionate and eloquent way in which he set the tone and the scene for the debate. I join him and others in expressing my gratitude and that of my party to Mercy Corps for all that it does on behalf of some of the most needy communities and people around the world. The team that is based in Scotland, which does truly remarkable work in more than 30 countries around the world, should be a source of pride for us all.

Malcolm Chisholm was right to put his finger on the flexibility of Mercy Corps and the local solutions that it is committed to introducing, as that approach is very much at the root of the organisation's success. It often moves from urgent recovery into longer-term resilience, which must be the ultimate objective of international aid.

Linda Fabiani mentioned the modesty of Mercy Corps. I think that it would be at pains to point out that it is part of a wider effort and network. We are truly blessed in the efforts that many organisations do on our behalf internationally. There is no doubt that that effort has never been more necessary, as we are now seeing the highest number of refugees at any point since the second world war.

I recall a debate that I think took place three years ago, which again was led by my friend Jim Eadie, on the crisis in Syria. A number of colleagues participated in that. It was suggested then that the number of refugees coming out of the conflict in Syria was the highest of any conflict. Nobody will need reminding that the situation in that country has deteriorated abysmally since then.

Although the pressure of numbers creates challenges, this is not simply a numbers game. Mercy Corps made clear to me in correspondence the challenges that are presented by what it calls complex humanitarian emergencies, in which the impact of conflict is real for not just those who are directly affected but those who seek to deliver help to people in those communities.

David Torrance mentioned the situation in Malawi and pointed out that we are not talking just about areas of conflict. The complexity comes from natural disasters, too. I will join the Deputy Presiding Officer and James Dornan on a visit to Malawi next month, which is timely. We will see for ourselves the immediate effects of the floods—the disease risk and so on—and the longer-term risks to infrastructure and the like.

I am very grateful to the First Minister for her response to Patricia Ferguson at First Minister's question time last week. That commitment is greatly to be welcomed and follows a long legacy of commitment to international development that ministers of different political persuasions have shown over the duration of the Parliament.

Recently we have seen the reaction to not just the Malawian floods but hurricane Haivan, the Ebola situation in west Africa and conflicts such as those in Syria, Gaza and elsewhere. Financial support is important and members were absolutely right to point to the wider significance of the United Kingdom Government's international aid efforts-I am particularly proud of the coalition Government's commitment to delivering 0.7 per cent of gross domestic product in aid-and the wider international effort. However, we in Scotland have expertise that we can deploy also internationally, and the actions of ministers and parliamentarians here can publicise and raise awareness of the efforts of Mercy Corps.

As we move from the millennium goals to the principles of leaving no one behind, there is a call for us to take a more strategic approach to international aid. Jim Eadie and others pointed to the principles of addressing climate change, gender equality, human rights and democracy. All those things need to be fed into our approach, although I would be a little wary of an approach that tried to spread our influence too widely, as ultimately that could dilute it.

I thank Jim Eadie again for allowing the debate to take place and I congratulate Mercy Corps on its 35th anniversary. I wish it all the best in the desperately difficult but absolutely critical work that it does on our behalf.

17:43

The Minister for External Affairs and International Development (Humza Yousaf): I thank Jim Eadie for securing the debate and lodging the motion, which I am pleased to speak in support of on behalf of the Scottish Government. I wish Mercy Corps a very happy 35th birthday. I will turn 30 this year and I am having a bit of a pre-30 crisis, so I might speak to Mercy Corps to see how it adapted to being in its 30s. Congratulations to it, its staff and the wonderful team that it has around it for everything that they have done in those 35 years. I am sure that it will continue its work for many years into the future.

It is a privilege for the Government to have the European headquarters of such a large and prestigious organisation as Mercy Corps based here in Scotland. Not long after I came into my post, I was given a tour of its Edinburgh offices and was impressed by the dedication and commitment of its staff, especially those who were planning to work through the Christmas period to provide help to those who need it most. I am delighted that I will visit the offices tomorrow and I look forward to meeting staff and the new chief executive, Simon O'Connell, who brings to his new role a wealth of experience of working in developing countries.

Jim Eadie was right to say that the world that we live in is afflicted by many challenges. Last week, the United Kingdom representative of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees spoke at the Scottish Refugee Council's annual general meeting of the refugee crisis that we are facing, which Liam McArthur and Jim Eadie referred to, with 58 million people in the world forcibly displaced—more than at any time in history since the second world war, which is absolutely incredible.

I want to touch on a few points that have been raised. First, I want to commend Mercy Corps for the work that it does on long-term resilience. Jim Eadie described that eloquently in his speech. A lot of aid agencies that are designed to assist communities, particularly in natural disasters and sometimes in response to conflict, go in in a very well-intentioned way and do a lot of great work, but of course they have to move on to the next crisis, the next conflict or the next natural disaster. That is understandable and correct. What Mercy Corps does, which Jim Eadie touched on, is the longer-term resilience work with local partners. Jim Eadie spoke about Azerbaijan and Armenia. Mercy Corps is there for the long term. It is there before disasters take place and it is there to ensure that if such disasters are repeated, they will not have the same devastating consequences again. It is there after the media spotlight has gone from the conflict or natural disaster, when many agencies have pulled out for other aid understandable reasons. Mercy Corps should be commended for that long-term resilience work.

I want to touch on a point that Jim Eadie raised about humanitarian aid. I am pleased that the Scottish Government has a good record of responding to humanitarian disasters, be that in Gaza, Pakistan, Haiti or Syria or, most recently, the Ebola crisis. Usually the Disasters Emergency Committee is a trigger for the Scottish Government to put forward some funds to help to tackle a crisis, but that is not always the case. The DEC moved on Ebola after we had already donated significant money to the World Health Organization. A number of members mentioned the floods in Malawi. I will make some announcements very soon on what support we can give in that regard, but obviously there has not been a DEC trigger for that.

There are on-going discussions with Mercy Corps on how we set the criteria for triggering humanitarian aid. The challenge that we face is that we do not have a set budget for humanitarian aid in the Scottish Government. We rely on not just the international development fund but the generosity of other departments within Government. I am very sympathetic to looking at the matter further.

Linda Fabiani spoke incredibly powerfully about her own experiences with Mercy Corps. I agree entirely with her point that sometimes three years does not seem enough of a timeframe and I am very sympathetic to examining that. It is certainly something that we are looking at as a Government.

Patricia Ferguson made an equally powerful contribution, which focused on Syria. She made the good point that aid is important but we can do more than that. In my discussions tomorrow with Mercy Corps, I am more than happy to discuss its plans on the education front in Syria and to see how we can assist in that regard. I am keen that the entire Scottish Government plays a role in international development and that it is seen not just as a challenge for the international development but as a cross-Government priority for us all. I am happy to take that up with the Cabinet Secretary for Education and Lifelong Learning.

On Patricia Ferguson's point on Syria, we could be doing a lot more about the refugee crisis, given that 3.8 million Syrians are now refugees. I commend the work that the UK Government has done in delivering aid—in fact, the UK Government is the second-largest aid donor to Syria, so it should be commended for that. However, I would urge the UK Government to go further with regard to the refugee crisis. Thus far, many European countries have taken tens of thousands of refugees, but the UK Government's vulnerable persons relocation scheme has thus far resettled only 140 Syrians. We can do more and Scotland is ready to play her part.

Mercy Corps has a long-standing relationship with the Scottish Government. One of the projects that I have been involved in and seen the fruits of is the project in Kashmir. As members will know, Kashmir is a region that has been blighted by conflict and instability for many years. Some 48 per cent of young people there are unemployed.

Mercy Corps received £400,000 of Scottish Government funding to deliver a programme to entrepreneurship-young encourage entrepreneurship in particular-over a three-year period. It ran an awareness campaign that reached more than 38,000 young people, alerting them to the possibilities of setting up new businesses. It received a phenomenal response, and by directly providing 170 young people with finance and the advice that they needed to start up their own businesses, the project has helped to harness creativity. enthusiasm and entrepreneurship. When I visited India in October 2013, I had the pleasure of meeting a couple of those entrepreneurs.

With the assistance of Mercy Corps, the Scottish Government has also helped to make a difference through many other projects.

I want to touch on the issue of gender equality, which was raised by Jim Eadie and also picked up by Linda Fabiani. We know that there are far too many maternal deaths and that there is too much infant mortality in the developing world. One of the projects that we deliver with Mercy Corps looks to empower community midwives in the Balochistan region of Pakistan. We are very proud of that, and of all the projects on which we work closely with Mercy Corps.

The Mercy Corps mission statement is to

"Alleviate suffering, poverty and oppression by helping people build secure, productive and just communities."

In a world where suffering, poverty and oppression are sadly all too commonplace, Mercy Corps serves as an inspirational example of how one organisation can make a difference.

I commend the motion and I am pleased to support it on behalf of the Scottish Government.

Meeting closed at 17:51.

Members who would like a printed copy of the Official Report to be forwarded to them should give notice to SPICe.

Available in e-format only. Printed Scottish Parliament documentation is published in Edinburgh by APS Group Scotland.

All documents are available on the Scottish Parliament website at:

www.scottish.parliament.uk

For details of documents available to order in hard copy format, please contact: APS Scottish Parliament Publications on 0131 629 9941. For information on the Scottish Parliament contact Public Information on:

Telephone: 0131 348 5000 Textphone: 0800 092 7100 Email: sp.info@scottish.parliament.uk

e-format first available ISBN 978-1-78534-743-6

Revised e-format available ISBN 978-1-78534-756-6

Printed in Scotland by APS Group Scotland